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PAULSENS GOLD MINE 
The Paulsens mine is the cornerstone asset of Northern Star Resources Ltd (“Northern Star” or “Company”), and has proven to be a high 
grade, low cost mine. During the year we have had a number of significant successes:- 

 Mineral Resources have increased from 226,000 ounces to 406,000 ounces through the successful exploration of the Voyager 1 
lode, the recently defined Voyager 1 extension lode and the maiden resource of the Voyager 2 lode. 

 The successful implementation of our in house mining services company which has resulted in our overall cost/tonne mined 
reducing by 20%.  We have also seen a productivity improvement in ore tonnes mined of 43%. 

 The mine and mill are currently under an expansion program that will see the processing rate increase to 450,000 tonnes per 
annum. The current mining rate is exceeding the planned expanded mill capacity. 

 The installation of a new 4.5 metre diameter 600 metre ventilation shaft is fully operational, dramatically improving the conditions 
underground. 

 The mine camp has recently been upgraded with the addition of 25 rooms. 

The focus for the mine for the year was set on de-risking the operation.  The current decline face is more than 12 months in advance of 
production levels, ventilation capacity has been increased, a new fleet of underground equipment has been commissioned and there are 
now multiple production areas available at any one time. 

 

Free from capital constraints, the mine is now set up to further improve on these already impressive achievements. 

 

PROFITABILITY  
The Company recorded a net profit after tax of $22.0 million for the 2012 financial year which was a 34% increase on the 2011 result of 
$16.2M.  Diluted earnings per share grew by 19% to 5.1 cents per share on the 2011 financial year.  Earnings before interest and tax 
(EBITDA) of $49.4M was a 9% improvement on the previous financial years result. 

With a rising gold price, planned expansion of the milling circuit and a scheduled 20% increase in gold production, Northern Star is well 
placed to grow earnings into the future. 

 

BALANCE SHEET AND CASH RESERVES 
At 30 June 2012, Northern Star had $65M in cash at bank as well as $10M (6,345 ounces) in bullion on hand.  We expect that in calendar 
year 2013 the cash balance will grow considerably with the combination of increased throughput from the mill and also the mining of the 
higher grade Voyager 1 extension zone.  

 

With the increasing production profile of the Paulsens mine, the Board resolved to pay a fully franked 2.5 cents per share dividend in 
September 2012 as part of its capital management strategy. 

 

EXPLORATION 
The increase in Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve at Paulsens and the Ashburton project were the highlights of another successful year 
for Northern Star’s exploration and projects teams. The Company sees exploration as its key strength and has committed $10 million over 
the coming financial year to increase existing resources / reserves and to test promising targets in the Paulsens and Ashburton projects. 
Exploration at the Paulsens mine was successful in identifying the high grade Voyager Extension zone, mining has commenced ahead of 
schedule with production to commence early 2013. During the year the exploration team delivered a number of outstanding results across 
the Company’s tenements which will be followed up during the 2013FY.   

 

SAFE PRODUCTION 
A cornerstone KPI of Northern Star is safe production.  During the year Northern Star had a lost time injury frequency rate (LTIFR) rate of 
2.4 against an industry benchmark of 3.5.  We strive to continually improve our safety performance and value the safety of our workforce as 
a number one priority.   

 

COMMUNITY RELATIONS 
Management regularly meet with the local indigenous people and land holders in the surrounding district to discuss any issues and the 
Company’s upcoming activities.  Our relationship with the local people is both cooperative and inclusive, and we ensure all stakeholders are 
accommodated in the decision making process. 
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OWNERSHIP 
The Company instituted a realignment of its share register in March 2012 with the placement of $42M in shares to institutional investors.  
The Board believes with our growth aspirations, institutional investors are critical to take the Company on the next growth phase.  
Institutional holdings now account for approximately 30% of the share register. 

 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 
The Board would like to thank all of our employees, contractors and shareholders who have contributed substantially to our achievements 
during the year. In particular the strong focus and commitment of our Managing Director and his executive team has helped the Company 
establish a very strong base from which to grow. During this period, Northern Star has successfully made the transition from a small 
explorer to a substantially profitable gold producer. 

 

OUTLOOK 
Northern Star is in a very strong financial position and well positioned to take advantage of the increasing gold price and rationalisation in 
the gold sector. 

 

The increase in both production and mine grade at Paulsens will see the mine increase production to over 100,000 ounces per annum. 
Cashflow is also expected to increase significantly in 2013 once the upgrade of the production plant is completed. The Company at a 
A$1,550/oz gold price expects to produce a cashflow from operations of between A$65-85 million in 2013. 

 

Our primary objectives are to grow the Company’s reserve base and build long term profitability. This will be achieved through exploration, 
organic growth and strategic acquisitions.  The Board and management are confident of further exploration success at Paulsens and are 
working towards exploitation of our large Mineral Resource base in the Ashburton region.  

 

We have the people, assets and financial resources to prosper in the new gold price environment. 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Chris Rowe Bill Beament 
Chairman Managing Director 
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OVERVIEW  
Northern Star Resources Ltd is an ASX 300 gold producing and exploration company with a resource base of over 1.3 million ounces, 
located in the highly prospective Ashburton-Pilbara region of Western Australia. Northern Star's strategy is to increase the production at its 
Paulsen’s Gold Mine to 100,000 ounces per annum rate by the end of 2012.  Exploration will continue at both the Ashburton and Paulsen’s 
Gold Project with the goal of building a second 100,000 ounce per annum operation at the Ashburton Project.  

 

HEALTH AND SAFETY 
The Health and Safety of our employees and contractors continues to be a fundamental measure of success for the business. The on-going 
focus and commitment to a safe workplace is resulting in a notable improvement in our safety performance. Lost time injury frequency rate 
for the Paulsens Gold Project of 2.4 were well below the WA Gold industry frequency rate of 3.5.  

 

MINE PRODUCTION 
All ore to-date has been sourced from Paulsens gold mine. A total of 72,007 ounces was mined at an average grade of 6.25 g/t Au for the 
2011/2012 year. Cash costs for the period were $713 per ounce Au (including State Government Royalties of $38/oz).  Total mine 
productivity increased by 43% since moving to owner operator and the full benefits of this change out are now being realised which 
translates to a $1 million cost saving per quarter when compared to previous contractor's rates  

There were 336,877 tonnes milled during the period at an average head grade of 6.63 g/t Au for 67,211 ounces recovered. Unprocessed 
ore stocks available for mill feed at the end of the period totalled 27,074 tonnes containing 2,536 ounces of gold. Gold in circuit at the end of 
the period totalled 1,830 ounce.  Bullion on hand amounted to 6,345 ounces and was subsequently sold in July realising $10 million. Both of 
these items are reflected in the accounts as gold in circuit at cost. 

PAULSENS UNITS SEP QTR DEC QTR MAR QTR JUN QTR 

Ore Hoisted Tonnes 60,795  76,995  64,132  85,996  

Mined Grade g/t Au 7.90  7.80  6.40  7.50  

Gold in Ore Hoisted Oz 15,495  19,311  13,100  20,755  

Low Grade Hoisted Tonnes 18,469  10,760  19,130  21,974  

Grade g/t Au 1.50  1.80  1.20  1.60  

Gold in Low Grade Oz 868  613  750  1,111  

Total Ore Hoisted Tonnes 79,265  87,755  83,262  107,970  

Mined Grade g/t Au 6.40  7.10  5.20  6.30  

Gold in Ore Hoisted Oz 16,363  19,924  13,855  21,865  

 

Milled Tonnes Tonnes 84,735  85,447  77,769  88,926  

Head Grade g/t Au 6.70  7.00  5.60  7.00  

Ounces Produced Oz 18,368  19,313  13,991  20,156  

Recovery % 93  94  94  94  

Gold Recovered Oz 17,043  18,081  13,127  18,955  

Ounces Poured Oz 18,623  17,982  13,240  18,114  

Ounces Sold Oz 18,158  15,995  14,817  12,644  

Average Gold Price A$/oz 1,607  1,642  1,602  1,596  

Revenue A$M 29.2  26.3  23.7  20.2  

Cash Cost A$/oz 647 682 904 646 

 

Ore High Grade Stockpile Tonnes 4,267  4,729  5,260  6,674  

Stockpile Grade g/t Au 3.50  6.70  4.30  7.50  

Contained Gold in Stockpile Oz 478  1,018  721  1,605  

Ore Low Grade Stockpile Tonnes 1,474  864  3,356  20,400  

Stockpile Grade g/t Au 1.40  1.80  1.00  1.40  

Gold in Low Grade Stockpile Oz 68  50  108  931  

Total Stockpiles Contained Gold Oz 546  1,068  829  2,536  

Gold in Circuit (GIC) Oz 943  1,080  979  1,832  

Gold in Transit (GIT) Oz 465  2,451  875  6,345  
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FINANCIAL RESULT 
For the year ended 30 June 2012, the Company had produced 67,206 ounces at an average cash cost of $713 per ounce (including State 
Government Royalty of $38/oz). Revenue totalled $100 million, at an average gold sale price of $1613 per ounce. Gross profit for the year 
was $57 million. Northern Star forecasts FY 2013 gold production cash costs at circa $665 per ounce (including State Government Royalty 
of $38/oz) maintaining Northern Star’s position as one of Australia’s lowest cost and highest margin gold producers. 

 

 UNITS SEP QTR DEC QTR MAR QTR JUN QTR 

Cash Operating Costs  A$/oz 639 609 883 611 

Capital Development Costs) A$/oz 283 274 347 336 

Royalties A$/oz 43 32 45 36 

Total Expenditure Costs A$/oz 965 915 1,275 982 

Average Realised Gold Price A$/oz 1,607 1,642 1,602 1,596 

 

CORPORATE 
In February 2012, Northern Star completed a capital-raising with the placement of 50,000,000 shares at 90 cents each to institutions and 
sophisticated investor clients of Morgan Stanley Smith Barney to raise net proceeds of $42.7 million after costs. Funds raised from the issue 
were used for:  

 Process facility upgrade  
 Aggressive exploration at Paulsens and Ashburton gold projects in WA  
 to seize any acquisition opportunities 

In May 2012, Northern Star became a cornerstone investor acquiring a 13% stake in Venturex Resources Limited (ASX:VXR) through a 
placement of 163 million shares at 4 cents. 

In May 2012, Peter O’Connor was appointed to the Board as Non-executive Director. 

 
EXPLORATION 
Paulsens in Mine Drilling 

During the year Northern Star Resources increased the Paulsens project resource base by 41% to 318,000oz. In addition to the updated 
resource, a JORC-compliant Reserve of 113,000oz has been estimated on Paulsens. This is the first Reserve estimate at Paulsens since 
2008. 

 

Paulsens Group 

The Belvedere deposit is located just 8km from the Paulsens processing plant. A maiden Resource for Belvedere of 168,000t at 3.3g/t for 
18,000oz gold were announced during the period. 

An RC drilling program is planned for the Merlin prospect, which lies around 20km NW of Paulsens. A maiden resource for the Merlin 
prospect of 523,000t at 1.4g/t for 24,000 gold was announced during the period 

 

Ashburton Group 

During the year Northern Star’s strategy to establish a second 100,000 ounce-a-year operation received a significant boost with resources 
at its Ashburton Project soaring 50% to 1,007,000oz. The Company also released a 53,000oz Reserve, comprised of all free-milling ore. 
The increased Resource inventory now totals 11.6 million tonnes at 2.7gpt. It comprises 318,000oz in free-milling ore and 689,000oz in 
sulphide ore.  
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RESOURCES 
A 41% increase to total JORC gold resource ounces at Paulsens was achieved from the Company’s underground and surface drilling 
programmes throughout the year. The December 2011 JORC resource for Paulsens totals 2.3 million tonnes at 4.3 g/t Au for 318,000ozs. 

At Ashburton a maiden JORC gold resource was achieved from the Company’s surface drilling programmes throughout the year. The 
December 2011 JORC resources for Ashburton totals 12million tonnes at 2.7 g/t Au for 1 million oz. 

 

31 DECEMBER 2011 

MEASURED INDICATED INFERRED TOTAL 
Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Oz Au 
(,000) (g/t) (,000) (g/t) (,000) (g/t) (,000) (g/t) (,000) 

Open Pit   573 2.5 169 2.5 742 2.5 61 
Paulsens Upper Levels   136 7.1 32 5 168 6.7 36 
Voyager 1 57 11.1 318 8.9 101 15.5 476 10.5 161 
Paulsens Stockpiles         5 
Belvedere   45 2.8 123 3.5 168 3.3 18 
Merlin     523 1.4 523 1.4 24 
Mt Clement JV     226 1.8 226 1.8 13 
Total 57 11.1 1073 5 1174 3.2 2,304 4.3 318 

Table 1 - Paulsens Resources @ 2.5g/t Au Lower Cut-Off Underground and 1.0g/t Au Lower Cut-Off Open Pit 
 

31 DECEMBER 2011 

PROVEN  PROBABLE  TOTAL 
Tonnes Grade  Tonnes Grade  Tonnes Grade Oz Au 
(,000) (g/t)  (,000) (g/t)  (,000) (g/t) (,000) 

Open Pit  424  2.3 424  2.3 31  
Paulsens Upper Levels  39  4 39  4 5  
Voyager 1 117 6.1  248 6.1  365 6.1 72 
Paulsens Stockpiles 6 5.9     6 5.9 1 
GIC and GIT        4  
Total 123 6.1  711 3.7  834 4.1 113 

Table 2 - Paulsens Reserves Underground and Open Pit 
 

31 DECEMBER 2011 

MEASURED INDICATED INFERRED TOTAL 
Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Tonnes Grade Oz Au 
(,000) (g/t) (,000) (g/t) (,000) (g/t) (,000) (g/t) (,000) 

Mt Olympus 1,712 2.5 1,533 2.3 4,956 2.8 8,201 2.6 695 
Peake   95 5.6 794 4.2 889 4.3 123 
Waugh   347 3.6 240 3.6 587 3.6 68 
Zeus   508 2.1 532 2.2 1,040 2.2 72 
Electric Dingo   98 1.6 444 1.2 542 1.3 22 
Romulus     329 2.6 329 2.6 27 
Total 1,712 2.5 2,581 2.5 7,295 2.8 11,588 2.7 1,007 

Table 3 - Ashburton Mineral Resources Inclusive of Reserves - 0.7g/t lower cut used for Mt Olympus and 0.9g/t lower cut for others 
 

31 DECEMBER 2011 

PROVEN  PROBABLE  TOTAL 
Tonnes Grade  Tonnes Grade  Tonnes Grade Oz Au 
(,000) (g/t)  (,000) (g/t)  (,000) (g/t) (,000) 

Mt Olympus 248 3.6  113 3.6  361 3.6 42 
Peake    47 5  47 5 8 
Waugh          
Zeus    38 2.4  38 2.4 3 
Electric dingo          
Romulus          
Total 248 3.6  198 11.0  446 3.7 53 

Table 4 - Ashburton Reserves @ A$1600 gold price based on oxide/transitional material only (free milling) 
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Competent Persons Statements 

The information in this Report  that relates to Paulsens and Mt Olympus mineral resource estimation, exploration results, data quality, geological interpretations, potential for 
eventual economic extraction and estimates of exploration potential, is based on information compiled by or under the supervision of Brook Ekers, (Member AIG), who is a full-
time employee of Northern Star Resources Ltd. Mr.Ekers has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to 
the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the "Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves". 

Information in this Report that relates to the Ore Reserves has been compiled by Shane McLeay, Principal Engineer – Entech Pty Ltd, who has sufficient experience relevant to 
the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of 
the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves”. Shane McLeay is a Member of the Australasian Institute of Mining and 
Metallurgy and consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

The information in this Report that relates to Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves in the ‘Exploration’ section of this report is based on information compiled 
by Jason Boladeras, who is a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists (AIG) and Exploration Manager and casual employee of Northern Star Resources.Mr Boladeras 
has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a 
Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Boladeras consents 
to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears. 

 

Forward Looking Statements 

Northern Star Resources Limited has prepared this Report based on information available to it. No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made as to the fairness, 
accuracy, completeness or correctness of the information, opinions and conclusions contained in this announcement. To the maximum extent permitted by law, none of Northern 
Star Resources Limited, its directors, employees or agents, advisers, nor any other person accepts any liability, including, without limitation, any liability arising from fault or 
negligence on the part of any of them or any other person, for any loss arising from the use of this announcement or its contents or otherwise arising in connection with it. 

This Report  is not an offer, invitation, solicitation or other recommendation with respect to the subscription for, purchase or sale of any security, and neither this Report nor 
anything in it shall form the basis of any contract or commitment whatsoever. This Report may contain forward looking statements that are subject to risk factors associated with 
gold exploration, mining and production businesses. It is believed that the expectations reflected in these statements are reasonable but they may be affected by a variety of 
variables and changes in underlying assumptions which could cause actual results or trends to differ materially, including but not limited to price fluctuations, actual demand, 
currency fluctuations, drilling and production results, reserve estimations, loss of market, industry competition, environmental risks, physical risks, legislative, fiscal and regulatory 
changes, economic and financial market conditions in various countries and regions, political risks, project delay or advancement, approvals and cost estimates. 



 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 

   

  2012 ANNUAL REPORT / PAGE 8 
 

  

 

The directors of Northern Star Resources Ltd (Northern Star) present their report together with the consolidated financial report for the year 
ended 30 June 2012. 

 

DIRECTORS 
The Directors in office at the date of this report and at any time during the financial year are as follows. Directors were in office for the entire 
year unless otherwise stated.  

 

Christopher K G Rowe Chairman 

William J (Bill) Beament Managing Director 

Peter C P Farris Director 

Michael G Fotios Director 

Peter O’Connor Director (Appointed 25  May 2012) 

 

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS 
Christopher Kenneth George Rowe 

BA, MA Economics and Law (Chairman) Age 68  

Mr Rowe has practised as a lawyer both in the United Kingdom and in Western Australia before becoming a full time consultant to the 
mining and oil and gas industry.  He has been chairman or deputy chairman of a number of public listed mining and oil and gas related 
companies in Australia and North America holding both executive and non-executive positions.   

 

Special Responsibilities 

 Chair of nomination and remuneration committees 
 Chair of audit committee. 

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies  

 Target Energy Ltd (chairman from January 2010)  

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years  

 Tangiers Petroleum Ltd (from April 2008 to October 2010) 

 

Bill Beament 

BEng-Mining (Hons) (Managing Director) Age 37 

Mr Beament is a mining engineer with more than 15 years’ experience in the resource sector in mine management. He had held several 
senior management positions, including General Manager of the Eloise Copper Mine in Queensland and Operations manager for Barminco 
Limited with overall responsibility for 12 mine sites across Western Australia.  

 

Special Responsibilities 

 Member of nomination committee. 

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies  

 None 

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years  

 None 
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Peter Charles Farris 

Diploma Business Perth Tech, Diploma Business RMIT, MAICD (Non-executive Director) Age 67  

Mr Farris is a well-respected and highly credentialed businessman in the Perth real estate industry and corporate advisory services.  He has 
managed and developed major real estate companies with turnovers in excess of $200 million and has extensive experience in company 
management.  

 

Special Responsibilities 

 Member of nomination and remuneration committees 
 Member of audit committee. 

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies  

 None 

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years  

 None 

 

Michael George Fotios 

BSc (Hons) MAusIMM (Non-executive Director) Age 50  

Mr Fotios has qualifications in Geology specialising in Economic Geology with extensive experience in exploration throughout Australia 
working with gold, base metals, tantalum, tin and nickel from exploration to feasibility over the last 26 years.  He previously held positions 
with Homestake Australia Limited and Sons of Gwalia Limited.   

 

Special Responsibilities 

 Member of nomination and remuneration committees 
 Member of audit committee (to June 2012). 

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies  

 General Mining Corporation Limited (from June 2012) 
 Horseshoe Metals Limited (from May 2012) 
 Pegasus Metals Limited (from December 2009) 

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years  

 None 

 

Peter O'Connor  

MA, Economics and Political Science, Trinity College, Dublin University; Barrister-at Law, The Kings Inn, Dublin (Non-executive Director) 
Age 71  

Mr O’Connor has extensive global experience in the funds management industry, both public and private companies in developed and 
emerging economies. He was a co-founder, director and deputy chairman of FundQuest UK Ltd which had €50 billion of assets under 
management or advice from 1998-2008 and deputy chairman from 2008-2010. 

  

Special Responsibilities 

 Member of nomination and remuneration committees (from 18 June 2012) 
 Member of audit committee (from 18 June 2012) 

Other Current Directorships of Listed Companies  

 Brazilian Metals Group Ltd (from May 2011) 

Former Directorships of Listed Companies in last three years  

 NEO Material Technologies Inc – TSX Listed (from December 1993 to June 2012) 
 Advance Developing Markets Fund - LSE Listed (from October 1998 to April 2012) 
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 
The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors held during the year ended 30 June 2012, and the numbers of meetings attended by 
each Director were:  

 
 MEETING OF COMMITTEES 

 DIRECTORS MEETING AUDIT REMUNERATION NOMINATION 

Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended Held 

Christopher Rowe 11 11 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Bill Beament 11 11 N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A* 2 2 

Peter Farris  10 11 2 2 2 2 2 2 

Michael Fotios 11 11 1 1 2 2 2 2 

Peter O'Connor 3 3 1 1 - - - - 
* Not a member of the relevant committee 

 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS 
The relevant interest of each Director in the share capital as notified by the Directors to the Australian Securities Exchange in accordance 
with s205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at the date of this report is as follows: 

 

NAME OF DIRECTOR 
FULLY PAID ORDINARY 

SHARES OPTIONS 
EXERCISE 

PRICE DETAILS OF OPTIONS 

Christopher Rowe 5,410,180 

864,681 10c Unlisted Options Expiring 04/09/12 

500,000 5c Unlisted Options Expiring 04/09/12 

500,000 10c Unlisted Options Expiring 04/09/13 

Bill Beament 14,670,000 
6,500,000 10c Unlisted Options Expiring 04/09/13 

2,000,000 91c Unlisted Options Expiring 28/06/14 

Peter Farris  999,998 - - - 

Michael Fotios 49,539,374 5,000,000 10c Unlisted Options Expiring 04/09/13 

Peter O’Connor  100,000 - - - 
Note: Details of relevant interest of each Director are outlined at Note23 to the financial statements. 

  

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 
Northern Star Resources Ltd is a company limited by shares that is incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Northern Star Resources Ltd 
has prepared a consolidated financial report incorporating the entities that it controlled during the financial year as follows: 

 

Northern Star Resources Ltd  parent entity 

Northern Star Mining Services Pty Ltd  100% owned subsidiary 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES  
The principal activities of the Group are: 

 Mining of gold deposits at Paulsens 
 Construction and development of gold mining operations at Paulsen’s 
 Exploration and development of gold deposits in the Ashburton region of Western Australia. 

 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
The entity’s operations are discussed in detail in the operations report contained in this annual financial report.  
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EARNINGS PER SHARES 
Basic Earnings Per Share was 6.1 cents (2011: 5.9 cents).  

 

DIVIDENDS  
The Board is currently considering the payment of a dividend, at this stage the amount per share is yet to be determined.  

 

FINANCIAL POSITION  
The profit of the Group for the financial period, after providing for income tax amounted to $22 million (2011: $16 million). At the end of the 
financial year the Group had $65million in cash (2011: $17 Million) and $10 million in gold bullion (2011: $Nil). The positive cash flow 
generated through operating activities was reinvested in growth projects and used mainly to:  

 accelerate exploration ($20 million) to increase the resource inventory by ~600,000 oz;  
 construct a ventilation shaft ($5 million) to expand the underground operations;  
 commence upgrading the processing plant at Paulsens operations ($1.4 million); and 
 acquire a strategic shareholding in Venturex Resources Limited ($6.5 million) 

The $10 million in gold bullion mentioned above is the market value which is based on 6,345 oz at $1,571.  

 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
During the financial year, the Company: 

(i) Completed a capital-raising with the placement of 50,000,000 shares at 90 cents each to raise $45 million before costs. 
(ii) Sold the Golden Crown gold project to Bulletin Resources Limited for $200,000 satisfied by the issue of 1,624,695 Bulletin shares. 
(iii) Became a cornerstone investor acquiring a 13% stake in Venturex Resources Limited (ASX:VXR). 

 

These matters are described in further details above under Review of Operations. 

 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
There are no other matters or circumstances other than the future development of the production site that have arisen since 30 June 2012 
that have or may significantly affect the operations, results, or state of affairs of the Group in future financial years except for the following: 

1) Northern Star acquired a further 37 million shares in Venturex Resources Limited (ASX:VXR) at 3.6 cents    
 

 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 
The Company holds licences and abides by Acts and Regulations issued by the relevant mining and environmental protection authorities. 
The Company has a policy of at least complying with, but in most cases exceeding, its statutory environmental performance obligations. 
These licences, Acts and Regulations specify limits and regulate the management of various environmental management issues, including 
discharges to the air, surface water and groundwater associated with the Company’s mining operations as well as the storage and use of 
hazardous materials. 

All environmental performance obligations are monitored by the Board and subjected from time to time to Government agency audits and 
site inspections. No environmental breaches have occurred or have been notified by any Government agencies during the year ended 30 
June 2012. 
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SHARE OPTIONS 
Unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

 NUMBER EXERCISE PRICE (cents) EXPIRY DATE 

Unlisted Options  833,333 5 Expiring on 4 Sept 2012 

Unlisted Options  7,073,995 10 Expiring on 4 Sept 2012 

Unlisted Options  12,333,333 10 Expiring on 4 Sept 2013 

Employee Options  1,000,000 20 Expiring on 30 July 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 20 Expiring on 11 Oct 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 25 Expiring on 11 Oct 2014 

Employee Options  333,334 15 Expiring on 4 Nov 2012 

Employee Options  333,333 20 Expiring on 4 Nov 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 25 Expiring on 4 Nov 2014 

Employee Options  333,334 35 Expiring on 17 Oct 2012 

Employee Options  333,333 50 Expiring on 17 Oct 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 65 Expiring on 17 Oct 2014 

Employee Options  333,334 120 Expiring on 27 Feb 2014 

Employee Options  333,333 150 Expiring on 27 Feb 2015 

Employee Options  333,333 181 Expiring on 27 Feb 2016 

Employee Options  375,000 80 Expiring on 14 May 2013 

Employee Options  375,000 80 Expiring on 30 June 2013 

Unlisted Options  2,000,000 91 Expiring on 28 June 2014 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 
This report details the nature and amount of remuneration for each Director and Executive of Northern Star Resources Ltd. The information 
provided in the remuneration report includes remuneration disclosures that are audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

For the purposes of this report key management personnel of the Group are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for 
planning, directing and controlling the major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether Executive or 
otherwise) of the parent company, and includes Executives in the Group receiving the highest remuneration. 

For the purposes of this report the term “Executive” includes those key management personnel who are not directors.  

 

Remuneration Committee 

The Remuneration Committee (as from 1 July 2011) comprises four non-executive directors. In order to ensure that this committee is fully 
informed when making remuneration decisions, the committee receives reports from executive directors (who the committee invites to 
attend meetings as and when appropriate), and can draw on services from a range of external sources if required. 

Northern Star’s Remuneration Committee is responsible for setting the remuneration policies and reviewing and recommending the total 
remuneration for directors and the management team (including key management personnel). Non-executive remuneration reviews are also 
undertaken by the Remuneration Committee, providing recommendations to the full Board. 

Executive remuneration is reviewed annually having regard to individual and business performance, relevant comparative information and 
internal and independent external information. 

The remuneration review undertaken during the 2012 year completed a comprehensive review of the performance and remuneration of all 
executive key management personnel. The committee reviewed industry data from the April 2011 Australasian Gold & General Mining 
Industry Remuneration Report by McDonald & Company (Australasia) Pty Ltd. In addition the Managing Director presented the 
performance reviews undertaken on each executive key management personnel. 

 

A. PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF REMUNERATION 

Remuneration Philosophy 

The performance of the Company depends upon the quality of its Directors and Executives. To prosper, the Company must attract, 
motivate and retain highly skilled Directors and Executives. 

 

To this end, the Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework: 
 provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre Executives; 
 link Executive rewards to shareholder value; and 
 establish appropriate performance hurdles in relation to variable Executive remuneration.  

 

Remuneration Structure 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-executive Director and executive management remuneration is 
separate and distinct. 

 

Non-executive Director Remuneration  

Objective 

The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Company with the ability to attract and retain Directors of the 
highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders. 

 

Structure 

Non-executive Directors’ fees are paid within an aggregate limit (currently $500,000 per annum) which is approved by the shareholders 
from time to time. Retirement payments, if any, are agreed to be determined in accordance with the rules set out in the Corporations Act as 
at the time of the Director’s retirement or termination. Non-executive Directors’ remuneration may include an incentive portion consisting of 
bonuses and/or equity based remuneration, as considered appropriate by the Board, which may be subject to shareholder approval in 
accordance with ASX listing rules and any other applicable statutory regulation. Any option incentive portion is targeted to add to 
shareholder value by having a strike price considerably greater than the market price at the time of granting. 

The amount of aggregate remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the manner in which it is apportioned amongst 
Directors is reviewed annually. The Board considers the amount of Director fees being paid by comparable companies with similar 
responsibilities and the experience of the Non-executive Directors when undertaking the annual review process. 
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Executive Director and Senior Executive Remuneration  

Objective 

The Company aims to reward Executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and responsibilities within 
the Company and so as to: 
 reward Executives for company, and individual performance; 
 ensure continued availability of experienced and effective management; and 
 ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

 

Structure 

In reviewing the level and make-up of Executive total remuneration, the Remuneration Committee ensures remuneration reflects the market 
salary for a position and individual of comparable responsibility and experience. Remuneration is compared with the external market by 
participation in industry salary surveys and during recruitment activities generally. If required, the Remuneration Committee may engage an 
external consultant to provide independent advice in the form of a written report detailing market levels of remuneration for comparable 
Executive roles. 

Total remuneration consists of a fixed remuneration and a long term incentive portion (equity based remuneration and/or bonuses) as 
considered appropriate.  

 

Fixed Remuneration - Objective 

The level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration which is both appropriate to the position and is 
competitive in the market. Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually and the process consists of a review of Company and individual 
performance, and relevant comparative remuneration in the market. 

 

Fixed Remuneration - Structure 

The fixed remuneration is a base salary plus super or monthly consulting fee. 

 

Variable Pay — Long Term Incentives - Objective 

The objective of long term incentives is to reward Executives in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with the creation of 
shareholder wealth.  

 

Variable Pay — Long Term Incentives – Structure 

Long term incentives granted to Executives are in the form of share based remuneration, e.g. options or performance shares. These 
incentives granted are aimed to motivate Executives to pursue the long term growth and success of the Company within an appropriate 
control framework and demonstrate a clear relationship between key Executive performance and remuneration. Executive Director options 
are granted at the discretion of the Board as recommended by the Remuneration Committee and approved by shareholders. The Executive 
Management Team are granted options under Northern Star’s employee incentive scheme as recommended by the Remuneration 
Committee. Performance hurdles are not attached to vesting periods; however the Remuneration Committee determines appropriate 
vesting periods to provide rewards over a period of time to the recipients. 

 

Bonus plan 

As part of the Executive remuneration package, bonuses may be granted based on the achievement of agreed milestones set by the 
Remuneration Committee. The intention of this program is to facilitate goal congruence between Executives with that of the Company’s 
business and shareholders. The milestones are set with a certain level of consultation with Executives to ensure buy-in. The measures are 
specifically tailored to the areas each Executive is involved in and has a level of control over. The milestones target areas covering financial 
and non-financial as well as short and long-term goals. The level set for each milestone is based on budgeted figures for the Company and 
respective industry standards. 

Performance in relation to the milestones is assessed annually, with bonuses being awarded depending on the number of the milestones 
including; safety, production targets for tonnes and ounces, site performance and production growth targets being achieved. Following the 
assessment, the milestones are reviewed by the Remuneration Committee in light of the desired and actual outcomes, and their efficiency 
is assessed in relation to the Company’s goals and shareholder wealth, before the milestones are set for the following year. 

Bonuses may also be granted at the discretion of the Board to reward performance. 
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B. SERVICE AGREEMENTS 

On appointment to the Board, all non-executive directors enter into a service agreement with the Company in the form of a letter of 
appointment. The letter summarises the Board policies and terms, including compensation, relevant to the office of director. 

Remuneration and other terms of employment for the executive directors and the other key management personnel are also formalised in 
service agreements. Each of these agreements provide for the provision of performance related cash bonuses, director options and 
participation, when eligible, in the Northern Star Resources Ltd Employee Incentive scheme. Other major provisions of the agreements 
relating to remuneration are set out below. 

 

 

TERM OF AGREEMENT 

BASE 
SALARY  

(at 30/6/12) 
TERMINATION 

NOTICE 
TERMINATION 

BENEFIT 

Directors     

Christopher Rowe 
Required to retire at the third annual general meeting 
after election. $120,000 N/A None 

Bill Beament Commencing 30 July 2010 $454,546 3 Months 12 Months 

Peter Farris 
Required to retire at the third annual general meeting 
after election. $70,000 N/A None 

Michael Fotios 
Required to retire at the third annual general meeting 
after election. $70,000 N/A None 

Peter O’Connor 
Required to retire at the third annual general meeting 
after election. $70,000 N/A None 

Key Management Personnel     

Raymond Parry Commencing 4 October 2010 $275,000 1 Month None 

Karen Brown Commencing 1 February 2004 $33,000 1 Month None 

 

C. DETAILS OF REMUNERATION 

Directors 

The following persons were Directors of Northern Star Resources Ltd during the financial year: 

Christopher K G Rowe  Chairman 

Bill Beament  Managing Director 

Peter C P Farris   Director 

Michael G Fotios  Director 

Peter O’Connor  Director 

 

Other Key Management Personnel (employees and consultants) 

Raymond Parry  Chief Financial Officer 

Karen Elizabeth Vere Brown  Company Secretary 

 

There were no other persons that fulfilled the role of a key management person, other than those disclosed as Directors.  
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Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 

Details of the remuneration of each Director and named Executive Officer of the Company, including their personally-related entities, during 
the year was as follows: 

 
SALARY / 

CONSULTING 
FEES 

STI CASH 
PAYMENT^ SUPER OPTIONS TOTAL 

REMUNERATION 
CONSISTING OF 

OPTIONS DURING 
THE YEAR 

 Year $ $ $ $ $ % 

Directors        

Christopher Rowe 2012 109,638 - - 1,537 111,175 1.38% 

 2011 62,150 - - 3,309 65,459 5.06% 

Bill Beament 2012 460,855 129,867 24,979 6,045 621,746 0.97% 

 2011 380,675# 28,026 12,500 43,014 464,215 9.27% 

Peter Farris 2012 56,329 - - 2,335 58,664 3.98% 

 2011 60,898 - - 4,396 65,294 6.73% 

Michael Fotios 2012 53,333 - - 15,373* 68,706 22.38% 

 2011 36,667 - - 33,088* 69,755 47.43% 

Peter O’Connor 2012 7,671 - - - 7,671 0.00% 

Key Management Personnel        

Raymond Parry 2012 252,273 57,732 29,091 26,413 365,509 7.23% 

Karen Brown 2012 33,000 - - 274 33,274 0.82% 

 2011 33,000 - - 2,206 35,206 6.27% 
Notes:  

* Options were issued to Delta Resources Pty Ltd, a company with which Mr Fotios is associated. 
# Amount includes allowances to cover Mr Beament’s statutory salary on-costs and insurances  

^Amounts were cash payments determined and granted after performance reviews were completed and approved by the remuneration committee. The STI Cash Payment is for 
performance during the respective financial year using criteria defined above.  

 

Performance hurdles are not attached to remuneration options; however the Board determines appropriate vesting periods to provide 
rewards over a period of time to key management personnel. 

 

D. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 

The following options were granted as equity compensation benefits to key management personnel. These options were issued free of 
charge. Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the Company at various exercise prices with various 
expiry dates. 

 

 NUMBER EXERCISE PRICE (cents) ISSUE DATE EXPIRY DATE 

Bill Beament 2,000,000 91 29 June 2012 28 June 2014 

 

The assessed fair values of the options with an exercise price were determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into 
account the exercise price, term of option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, expected 
dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 

 

E. VOTING AND COMMENTS MADE AT THE COMPANY'S 2011 ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING  

Northern Star received more than 88% of "yes" votes on its remuneration report for the 2011 financial year. The Company did not receive 
any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its remuneration practices. 

 

This is the end of the audited remuneration report. 
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS 
The Company has paid a premium to insure the Directors and Officers of the Company and its controlled entities. Details of the premium 
are subject to a confidentiality clause under the contract of insurance. The liabilities insured are costs and expenses that may be incurred in 
defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the group. 

 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
The auditor’s independence declaration for year ended 30 June 2012 under s307C of the Corporations Act 2001 has been received and 
can be found after the Director’s Report. 

 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
No other services were provided by the auditor. 

 

ROUNDING 
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where rounding is 
applicable) under the option available to the Company under ASIC Class Order 98/0100. The Company is an entity to which the Class 
Order applies. 

 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 

 

 
 

Bill Beament  

Managing Director  

Perth, Western Australia 

31st July 2012 
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

 NOTES $'000 $'000 

Revenue from operations 2 (a) 99,525 114,925 

Mine operating costs 3 (a) (42,542) (42,233) 

Gross profit  56,983 72,692 

    

Other revenue 2 (b) 2,567 331 

    

Acquisition Royalty expense       -   (22,085) 

Government Royalty expense  (2,570) (2,743) 

Depreciation and amortisation   (17,400) (24,424) 

Administration   (5,477) (2,068) 

Exploration expenses  (2,060) (767) 

Net loss on financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss  (70)      -   

Finance costs  (529) (919) 

Profit  before Income Tax  31,444 20,016 

    

Income tax expense 5 (9,481) (3,731) 

    

Profit for the Period  21,964 16,285 

    

Other comprehensive income       -        -   

    

Total Comprehensive Income for the Period  21,964 16,285 

    

Total Comprehensive Income Attributed to: 

Owners of the Company  21,964 16,285 

    

    

  
CENTS PER 

SHARES 
CENTS PER 

SHARES 

Earnings Per Share    

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) 4 6.1 5.9 

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (cents per share) 4 5.1 4.3 
The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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AS AT 30 JUNE 2012  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

 NOTES $'000 $'000 

ASSETS    

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 (a) 64,962 16,574 

Trade and other receivables 8 1,817 4,940 

Inventory 9 9,077 4,812 

Other current assets 10 162 653 

Total Current Assets  76,018 26,979 

    

Non-Current Assets     

Investments 11 6,653      -   

Property, plant & equipment 12 19,883 10,966 

Exploration tenements 13 24,785 9,029 

Mine Development 14 5,654 1,053 

Deferred tax assets 6 (a) 1,013 727 

Total Non-Current Assets  57,988 21,776 

TOTAL ASSETS  134,007 48,755 

    

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities     

Trade and other payables 15 14,967 10,599 

Financial Liabilities 16 (a) 4,708 1,339 

Provisions 17 (a) 986 591 

Current tax liabilities 6 (c) 3,633 2,992 

Other liabilities 15 (9) 26 

Total Current Liabilities  24,285 15,547 

    

Non-Current Liabilities    

Financial Liabilities 16 (b) 4,719 2,750 

Provisions 17 (b) 2,827 2,863 

Deferred tax liabilities 6 (b) 7,668 1,467 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  15,213 7,081 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  39,499 22,628 

    

NET ASSETS  94,508 26,127 

    

EQUITY    

Contributed equity 18 64,613 18,306 

Reserves 19 503 392 

Retained earnings  29,393 7,429 

TOTAL EQUITY  94,508 26,127 
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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AS AT 30 JUNE 2012  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

 NOTES $'000 $'000 

Cash Flows From Operating Activities    

Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)  99,844 115,453 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)  (47,435) (37,236) 

Interest received  2,098 241 

Finance costs  (521) (916) 

Income taxes paid  (2,924)      -   

Net Cash From Operating Activities 7 (b) 51,062 77,543 

    

Cash Flows From Investing Activities    

Payments for property, plant & equipment  (9,408) (12,545) 

Payments for equity investments  (6,523)      -   

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  23 19 

Payments for development of mining properties  (21,587) (13,627) 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure  (16,508) (4,494) 

Acquisition of mine site       -   (40,085) 

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities  (54,004) (70,732) 

    

Cash Flows From Financing Activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares and conversion of options  48,244 4,708 

Payments for share issue costs  (2,250) (130) 

Proceeds from financing facility  7,989   4,090 

Repayment of financing facility  (2,652) - 

Proceeds from borrowings  - 15,000 

Principal Repayments  - (15,000) 

Net Cash From Financing Activities  51,331 8,668 

    

Net Decrease In Cash And Cash Equivalents Held  48,388 15,479 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 July  16,574 1,095 

Cash And Cash Equivalents at 30 June 7 (a) 64,962 16,574 
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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 GROUP 

  
SHARE 

CAPITAL RESERVES 
RETAINED 
EARNINGS 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

 NOTES $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance at 1 July 2010  13,349 591 (8,855) 5,084 

      

Equity issues net of transaction costs  4,956      -        -   4,956 

Share based payments       -   179      -   179 

Transfer from option reserve       -   (378)      -   (378) 

Total comprehensive income for the period       -        -   16,285 16,285 

      

Balance at 30 June 2011  18,306 392 7,429 26,127 

      

Equity issues net of transaction costs  51,344      -        -   51,344 

Equity issues – Treasury Shares  (5,038)      -        -   (5,038) 

Share based payments       -   111      -   111 

Transfer from option reserve       -        -        -        -   

Total comprehensive income for the period       -        -   21,964 21,964 

      

Balance at 30 June 2012  64,613 503 29,393 94,508 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(i) Basis of Preparation 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board including the Australian Accounting Interpretations.  The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the parent company’s functional and presentation currency, and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) unless otherwise stated.  The Group is of a kind referred to in Class Order 
98/0100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial report. 
Amounts in the financial report have been rounded off in accordance with that class order to the nearest thousand dollars. 

 

(ii) Statement of Compliance 

The financial statements comply with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 

(iii) Adoption of New and Revised Standards 

The following standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been identified as those which may impact the group in the 
period of initial application. The Group will apply the standards and amendments for the reporting periods beginning on the operative dates 
set out below. An initial assessment of the financial impact of the standards and amendments has been undertaken and they are not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group's financial statements or accounting policies.  

 AASB 2010-7 Amendments to AASB 9 outlines that a financial asset is to be measured at amortised cost only if it is held within a 
business model whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates 
to cash flows that are payments solely of principal and interest (on the principal amount outstanding). All other financial assets are to be 
measured at fair value. The amendments, which become mandatory for the group's 30 June 2014 financial statements, are not 
expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements. 

 AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities change the definition of control and 
require that it be applied to all entities to determine whether control exists. The new definition focuses on the need for both power and 
exposure to variability of returns in order for control to be present and the new disclosure standard increases the disclosure 
requirements for both consolidated and unconsolidated entities. The new standards, which become mandatory for the group's 30 June 
2014 financial statements, are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

 AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement replaces existing guidance on fair value measurement in several standards with a single, unified 
definition of fair value and a framework for measuring and disclosing fair values. AASB 13 applies to all assets and liabilities measured 
at fair value, not just financial instruments. The new standards, which become mandatory for the group's 30 June 2014 financial 
statements, are not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. 

 AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards — Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income amends 
AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. Under the amended standard, the format of other comprehensive income will need to 
be changed to separate items that might be recycled to net profit from items that will not be recycled. The new standards, which 
become mandatory for the group's 30 June 2013 financial statements, are not expected to have a material impact on the financial 
statements. 

 

(iv) Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions 

Significant accounting judgments 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgments, apart from those involving 
estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

 

Exploration and evaluation assets 

The Group’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure is set out at Note 1(v). The application of this policy necessarily 
requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions as to future events and circumstances.  Any such estimates and 
assumptions may change as new information becomes available.   If, after having capitalised expenditure under the policy, it is concluded 
that the expenditures are unlikely to be recovered by future exploitation or sale, then the relevant capitalised amount will be written off to the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of future events.  The key 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of certain assets and 
liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 
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Impairment of assets 

In determining the recoverable amount of assets, in the absence of quoted market prices, estimations are made regarding the present value 
of future cash flows using asset-specific discount rates and the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations 
performed in assessing recoverable amounts incorporate a number of key estimates. 

The recoverable amounts of cash generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use 
calculations and fair values. The calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions.  It is reasonably possible that the gold price 
assumption may change which may then impact our estimated life of mine determinant and may then require a material adjustment to the 
carrying value of tangible assets. 

The Group reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the carrying amount may 
not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of cash flows of other 
assets and liabilities.  If there are indications that impairment may have occurred, estimates are prepared for future cash flows of the mining 
assets.  Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could materially 
change over time.  They are significantly affected by a number of factors including reserves and production estimates, together with 
economic factors such as spot gold prices, discount rates, estimates of costs to produce reserves and future capital expenditure. 

 

Provisions for restoration costs 

Restoration costs are a normal consequence of mining, and the majority of this expenditure is incurred at the end of a mine’s life. In 
determining an appropriate level of provision consideration is given to the expected future costs to be incurred, the timing of these expected 
future costs (largely dependent on the life of the mine), and the estimated future level of inflation. 

The ultimate cost of restoration is uncertain and costs can vary in response to many factors including changes to the relevant legal 
requirements, the emergence of new restoration techniques or experience at other mine-sites. The expected timing of expenditure can also 
change, for example in response to changes in reserves or to production rates. 

Changes to any of the estimates could result in significant changes to the level of provisioning required, which would in turn impact future 
financial results. 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the 
date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model.  Should the assumptions used in these 
calculations differ, the amounts recognised could significantly change.  

 

Commitments - Exploration 

The Group has certain minimum exploration commitments to maintain its right of tenure to exploration permits.  These commitments require 
estimates of the cost to perform exploration work required under these permits.  These have been disclosed in Note 21.  

 

Determination of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves 

The Group reports its Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves in accordance with the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC) “Australasian 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves” – the JORC Code. The information on Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves is prepared by Competent Persons as defined by the JORC Code. 

There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves. Assumptions that are valid at the time of 
estimation may change significantly when new information becomes available. 

Changes in the forecast prices of commodities, exchange rates, production costs or recovery rates may change the economic status of 
reserves and may, ultimately, result in the reserves being restated. Such changes may impact asset carrying values, depreciation and 
amortisation rates, deferred stripping costs and provisions for restoration. 

 

Recoverability of deferred income tax assets 

The Group recognises deferred income tax assets in respect of tax losses and temporary differences to the extent that the future utilisation 
of these losses and temporary differences is considered probable.  Assessing the future utilisation of these losses and temporary 
differences requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 

Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws.  To the extent 
that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, this could result in significant changes to the deferred income 
tax assets recognised, which would in turn impact future financial results. 
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(v) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Northern Star Resources Ltd (“the Company”), and its subsidiary 
(“the Group” or “Group”). The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist. 

Where an entity has been acquired during the year, its results are included in consolidated results from the date control commenced. 

Unrealised gains and losses and inter-entity balances resulting from transactions with or between controlled entities are eliminated in full on 
consolidation. 

 

Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The 
chief operation decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 
been identified as the board of directors that makes strategic decisions. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less. For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 

 

Trade and other receivables 

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, less allowance for doubtful debts.  Current 
receivables for GST are due for settlement within 30 days and other current receivables within 12 months.  Cash on deposit is not due for 
settlement until rights of tenure are forfeited or performance obligations are met. 

 

Inventories 

Gold in circuit and ore stockpiles are physically measured or estimated and valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value. The stockpile 
amount is determined by reference to mining cost, including amortisation at the relevant stage of production. 

Consumables and spares are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Any provision for obsolescence is determined by 
reference to specific stock items identified. 

 

Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on a straight 
line basis to write off the net cost of each item of plant and equipment over its expected useful life. Other items of plant are amortised over 
life of mine. The life of mine expectation is reviewed periodically. 

 

Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure 

Costs related to the acquisition of properties that contain resources are allocated separately to specific areas of interest.  These costs are 
capitalised until the viability of the area of interest is determined. Exploration and evaluation expenditure is stated at cost and is 
accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest.  Such costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be 
recouped through the successful development of the area of interest (or alternatively by its sale), or where activities in the area have not yet 
reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active 
operations are continuing.  Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written off to the statement of comprehensive income in 
the period in which the decision to abandon the area is made. The company reviews the carrying value of each area of interest as at the 
reporting date and any exploration expenditure which no longer satisfies the above policy is written off. Restoration costs expected to be 
incurred are provided for as part of exploration, evaluation, development or production phases that give rise to the need for restoration. 

 

Development expenditure 

When the technical and commercial feasibility of extracting a mineral resource has been demonstrated the resource enters its development 
phase. The costs of the assets are transferred from exploration and evaluation expenditure and reclassified into development expenditure 
and include past exploration and evaluation costs and development costs. Although development expenditure is not amortised, it is tested 
annually for impairment. 
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Mine Development expenses 

Capitalised development costs are amortised on a unit-of-production basis over the economically recoverable resources of the mine.  The 
unit of account will be ounces produced. 

Capitalised development costs include exploration and evaluation expenditure previously deferred relating to that ore body. Separate 
calculations are undertaken for each ore body. 

 

Impairment of assets 

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.  Where an indicator of 
impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. It is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset’s 
value in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value less costs to sell and it does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or 
cash-generating unit is written down to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

 

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised when: 

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 
 the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material 

delay to a third party; or 
 the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either  
 has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or  
 has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability.  The 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

Restoration, rehabilitation, and environmental costs 

The Group recognises any legal restoration obligation as a liability at the time a legal liability exists. The carrying amount of the long lived 
assets to which the legal obligation relates is increased by the restoration obligation costs and amortised over the producing life of the 
asset. A provision is raised for the restoration and rehabilitation of each mine site. Restoration and rehabilitation works can include facility 
decommissioning and dismantling; removal or treatment of waste materials; land rehabilitation; and site restoration.  The extent of the work 
required and the associated costs are dependent on the relevant regulatory requirements and the group’s environmental policies. 

 

Investments 

Investments in listed entities are categorised as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Designation is re-evaluated at each 
reporting date, but there are restrictions on reclassifying to other categories. When these financial assets are recognised initially, they are 
measured at fair value. At each reporting date, gains or losses on these financial assets are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Trade and other payables 

Trade payables and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost and represent liabilities for 
goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged 
to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. The amounts are unsecured and usually paid within 30 
days of recognition. 

 

Borrowings 

All borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the 
establishment of loan facilities that are yield related are included as part of the carrying amount of the borrowings. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting date. 
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Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.  Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, 
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to any 
provision is presented in the statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is 
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.  Where discounting is used, the increase in the provision 
due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 

Employee benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave, and any other employee entitlements expected to be 
settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based on remuneration rates which are expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled. Long service leave liabilities are measured at current cost for those employees with greater than 5 
years’ service up to the reporting date.  Consideration is given to future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and 
period of service. Employee entitlements expenses and revenues arising in respect of wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits, annual 
leave, long service leave, sick leave and other entitlements are charged against profits on a net basis. Contributions are made to employee 
superannuation plans and are charged as expenses when incurred. 

 

Share-based payment transactions 

The Group may provide benefits to employees (including directors) of the Group in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 
employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’). The cost of these equity-settled 
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the 
share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for 
the term of the option.  The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market conditions, but excludes the impact of any non-
market vesting conditions.  Non-market vesting conditions, if any, are included in assumptions about the number of options likely to be 
exercisable. Upon exercise of the options the proceeds received, net of any transaction costs, are credited to issue capital. 

 

Jointly controlled interest 

The proportionate interests in the assets, liabilities and expenses of a joint interest activity have been incorporated in the financial 
statements under the appropriate headings. Details of the joint ventures are set out in Note 26. 

 

Revenue recognition 

Revenues are recognised at fair value of the consideration received net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST) payable to the 
taxation authority. Exchanges of goods or services of the same nature and value without any cash consideration are not recognised as 
revenues. 

 

Interest revenue 

Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset. 

 

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred except borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying asset that necessarily takes a substantial period to 
get ready for its intended use or sale. In this case, borrowing costs are capitalised as part of the cost of such a qualifying asset. 

 

Tax consolidations 

Northern Star Resources Ltd is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group comprising its wholly-owned subsidiary. The effective date of 
implementation was 9 March 2011 for the tax-consolidated group. Northern Star Resources Ltd accounts for the consolidated group’s 
current and deferred tax amounts.  These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a 
standalone taxpayer in its own right. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, Northern Star Resources Ltd also recognises 
the current tax liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from 
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.  
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Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
statement of financial position date. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the statement of financial position date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences, except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry-
forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or 
the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become 
probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 

Other taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable 
from the taxation authority.  In these circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item 
of the expense as applicable. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. Cash flows are included in statement 
of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities that are recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority are classified as operating cash flows. Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount 
of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority. 

 

Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the period in 
which they are declared. 

Treasury shares 

The Company operates the Northern Star Employee Share Trust (Trust). The main purpose of the Trust is to hold unvested employee 
incentive shares as part of Northern Star’s Employee Share Scheme. Under AASBs, the Trust qualifies as an equity compensation plan 
special purpose entity and its results are included in those for the Consolidated Entity. Any shares held by the Trust are accounted for as 
treasury shares and treated as a reduction in the number of publicly held shares of the Company and the Consolidated Entity. 

 

Earnings per share (EPS) 

Basic  EPS is calculated as net profit attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and 
preference share dividends, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, adjusted for any bonus element. Diluted earnings 
per share are determined when the Company has on issue potential ordinary shares which are dilutive.  It is calculated by dividing net profit 
attributable to members, adjusted to exclude costs of servicing equity (other than dividends) and any expenses associated with dividends 
and interest of dilutive potential ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares (both issued and potentially dilutive) 
adjusted for any bonus element. 
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2. REVENUE   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

(a) Revenue from operations     

Sale of gold   99,370 114,789 

Sale of silver   155 136 

   99,525 114,925 

(b) Other revenue     

Interest revenue   2,098 244 

Other    469 87 

   2,567 331 

Total Revenue   102,092 115,256 

    

3. EXPENSES   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

(a) Mine operating costs     

Mining Expenses   20,005 23,278 

Processing Expenses   14,422 14,087 

Admin Expenses   8,114 4,868 

   42,542 42,233 

(b) Operating Costs     

Acquisition Royalty expense        -   22,085 

Government Royalty expense   2,570 2,743 

Depreciation   5,584 5,570 

Amortisation   11,816 18,853 

Administration expenses   5,053 1,888 

Administration – Shares based payments    424 179 

Exploration expenses   2,060 767 

Net loss on financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss  70      -   

Finance costs   529 919 

   28,106 53,006 

Total Expenses   70,647 95,240 

     

     

4. EARNINGS PER SHARE   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

     

Basic profit/(loss) per share (cents)   6.1 5.9 

Diluted profit/(loss) per share (cents)   5.1 4.3 

     

Profit/(loss) used to calculate earnings per share ($'000)   21,964 16,285 

     

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the period used in calculation of basic 
profit/(loss) per share 360,654,100 277,583,396 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the period used in calculation of diluted 
profit/(loss) per share 430,016,079 375,930,786 
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5. INCOME TAX    GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

(a) Income tax expense     

Current tax   9,549 5,767 

Adjustment for current tax of prior periods   (68) (2,036) 

Income tax expense   9,481 3,731 

   

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax payable   

     

Profit (Loss) before income tax   31,444 20,016 

     

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30%   9,433 6,005 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/ (taxable) in calculating taxable income:   

Entertainment   0 2 

Share-based payments   127 41 

Sundry items   (12) 103 

Provisions        -   (383) 

   9,549 5,767 

Previously unrecognised tax losses now recouped to reduce current tax expense      -   (3,555) 

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods   (68) 1,518 

   9,481 3,731 

     

6. NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET/(LIABILITY)     

(a) Deferred tax assets Tax Losses 
Employee 

Benefits 
Other Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

At 1 July 2010 3,554      -        -   3,554 

(Charged)/credited to Profit or loss (3,554) 206 522 (2,826) 

As at 30 June 2011      -   206 522 728 

(Charged)/credited to Profit or loss      -   102 183 285 

As at 30 June 2012      -   308 705 1,013 

     

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:     

Employee benefits    308 

Sundry accruals    705 

As at 30 June 2012    1,013 
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6. NET DEFERRED TAX ASSET/(LIABILITY)     

(b) Deferred tax liabilities  Prepayments Inventories Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 

At 1 July 2010  (1,518)      -   (1,518) 

(Charged)/credited to Profit or loss  327 (275) 52 

As at 30 June 2011  (1,191) (275) (1,466) 

(Charged)/credited to Profit or loss  (6,105) (96) (6,201) 

As at 30 June 2012  (7,296) (371) (7,667) 

     

The balance comprises temporary differences attributable to:     

Prepayments    (7,296) 

Inventories    (371) 

As at 30 June 2012    (7,667) 

     

(c) Income tax liability   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

Opening Balance   2,992      -   

Tax paid   (2,924)      -   

Current Tax   9,549 5,767 

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods   (68) (2,036) 

Current charges deferred tax assets   (5,915) (740) 

Total income tax liability   3,633 2,992 

     
The Deferred Tax Asset not brought to account for the period will only be obtained if: 

(i) the Company derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be realised; 
(ii) the Company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and 
(iii) the Company is able to meet the continuity of ownership and/or continuity of business tests under tax legislation 

Northern Star Resources Ltd and its wholly-owned Australian entity have implemented the tax consolidation legislation. The accounting 
policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note 1(v).  
On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidation group entered into a tax sharing agreement which, in the 
opinion of the directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default by the head entity, Northern 
Star Resources Ltd. 
The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entity will fully compensate Northern Star 
Resources Ltd for any current tax payable assumed and are to be compensated by Northern Star Resources Ltd for any current tax 
receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to Northern Star Resources Ltd 
under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned 
entity’s financial statements. 
The amounts receivable/payable under the proposed tax funding agreement is due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head entity, 
which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. 

     

7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents     

Cash at bank    18,340 15,508 

Cash on Deposit   46,622 1,066 

Total Cash and Cash Equivalents   64,962 16,574 

     

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in Note 27. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is 
the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above. 
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7.   CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont.)   

(b) Reconciliation of Net Profit/(Loss) after Tax to Net Cash From Operations   

Profit/(Loss) after income tax for the year   21,964 16,285 

Non-Cash Items:        -    

Depreciation and amortisation   17,477 24,438 

Acquisition Royalty Payments        -   22,085 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets   (23) (19) 

Net (gain)/loss on sale of Exploration Tenements   553      -   

Interest Income   0 (3) 

Share-based payments   424 179 

Movements in Provisions   428 779 

Exploration expenditure written off        -   767 

     

(Increase)/Decrease in Assets:     

Trade and other receivables   (141) 461 

Inventories   (4,266) 3,760 

Deferred taxes   (285) (727) 

Prepaid expenses   492 (650) 

Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities:     

Trade and other payables   7,597 5,729 

Deferred taxes   6,201 1,467 

Provisions   642 2,992 

Net Cash From Operating Activities   51,062 77,543 

     

 
8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

     

Amounts receivable from:     

Trade Debtors   122      -   

Sundry debtors        -   9 

Goods and services tax recoverable   1,338 4,457 

Fuel Rebates   354 417 

Other receivables   3 57 

Total Trade and other receivables   1,817 4,940 

 

Fair Value and Risk Exposure 

(a) Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.  
(b) The maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as security. 
(c) Details regarding interest risk exposure are disclosed in note 27. 
(d) Other receivables generally have repayments between 30 and 90 days. 
(e) Transactions between Northern Star Resources Ltd and its subsidiary consist of intercompany loans, upon which no interest is charged 

and no repayment schedule exists. The intercompany loans have no set repayment date and the fair value approximates the carrying 
value of the receivable. 
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9. INVENTORY   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

     

Consumables   1,236 917 

Ore Stockpiles   2,355 1,197 

Gold In Circuit   5,486 2,698 

Total Inventory   9,077 4,812 

     

     

10. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

     

Prepayments   162 653 

 
 

 
   

11. INVESTMENTS   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

     

Investment in listed entities – at fair value   6,653      -   

     

2012 Reconciliation of Other Financial Assets     

Shares acquired for cash   6,523      -   

Shares and options acquired under tenement sale agreement   200      -   

Fair value loss at year end   (70)      -   

Investment in listed entities – at fair value   6,653      -   

     

     

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

     

Plant and equipment at cost   26,701 14,241 

Accumulated depreciation   (8,559) (4,477) 

   18,143 9,764 

Motor Vehicles at Cost   1,387 1,001 

Accumulated depreciation   (615) (164) 

   772 837 

Office equipment at cost   497 194 

Accumulated depreciation   (101) (120) 

   396 74 

Buildings at cost   1,603 1,207 

Accumulated depreciation   (1,031) (916) 

   572 291 

   19,883 10,966 
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12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont.)      

 Plant and 
equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles 

Office 
equipment Buildings Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2012 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment      

Carrying amount at beginning of the year 9,764 837 73 291 10,966 

Additions 13,375 398 407 426 14,606 

Disposals (91) (4) (7) (2) (104) 

Depreciation charge (4,905) (459) (77) (143) (5,584) 

Carrying amount at end of the year 18,143 772 396 572 19,883 

      

2011 Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment      

Carrying amount at beginning of the year      -        -   6  6 

Additions 14,229 953 156 1,207 16,545 

Disposals      -   (15)      -        -   (15) 

Depreciation charge (4,466) (101) (87) (916) (5,570) 

Carrying amount at end of the year 9,764 837 74 291 10,966 

     

    

13. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION COSTS   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

     

Exploration costs brought forward   9,029 4,503 

Exploration costs this year   16,508 5,294 

Exploration costs now written off        -   (767) 

Transfer to development expenditure   (753)      -   

Exploration costs carried forward   24,785 9,029 

     

Ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation expenditure carried forward is dependent on successful development and commercial 
exploitation or, alternatively, sale of the respective areas. 

     

Impairment 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure written off during the year relates to various tenements. This is due to the low level of current and 
planned activity to assess the existence of economically recoverable reserves of the tenements. 

     

     

     

14. DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

   $'000 $'000 

     

Development expenditure brought forward (acquired)   1,053 4,869 

Transfer from exploration and evaluation costs        -        -   

Development expenditure this year   35,271 15,038 

Accumulated amortisation   (30,670) (18,853) 

Development expenditure carried forward   5,654 1,053 
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15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 
   $'000 $'000 
     
Trade payables   14,967 10,599 
Other payables   (9) 26 
Total Trade and other payables   14,958 10,625 

     
Fair Value and Risk Exposures     

(i) Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 
(ii) Details regarding liquidity risk are disclosed in note 27. 
(iii) Trade and other payables are unsecured and usually paid within 60 days of recognition. 

 
     

16. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES    GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 
   $'000 $'000 
(a) Current     
Hire Purchase Agreement   4,708 1,339 

Total Financial Liabilities    4,708 1,339 

     
(b) Non-Current     
Hire Purchase Agreement   4,719 2,750 

Total Financial Liabilities   4,719 2,750 

     
Risk Exposures 
Details of the group’s exposure to risks arising from financial liabilities are set out in note 27 

  

The Group has entered into various Hire Purchase Agreements for the Purchase of Plant and Equipment. The interest rate are fixed and 
are payable over a period of up to 36 months. 
     

     

17. PROVISIONS   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 
   $'000 $'000 
(a) Current   
Provision for annual leave 986 591 

Total Provisions 986 591 

   
(b) Non-Current   
Provision for long service leave 151 187 
Provision for rehabilitation 2,676 2,676 

Total Provisions 2,827 2,863 

   
Reconciliation of provision for rehabilitation:   
Carrying amount at beginning of the year 2,676      -   
Increase during the year      -   2,676 
Accretion      -        -   

Carrying amount at end of the year 2,676 2,676 

The provision for rehabilitation represents the legal obligation for rehabilitation over tenement areas acquired and other non-current assets 
acquired. The timing of the provision is based on licences in existence at the end of the financial year. 
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18. CONTRIBUTED EQUITY   GROUP 

   30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 
(a) Issued Capital     
Ordinary shares fully paid   402,358,752 304,830,925 
     
(b) Movements in Ordinary Share Capital     
     

Number of Shares Summary of Movements Company  
  $'000  

205,902,802 Opening balance at 1 July 2010 13,349  
52,790,000 Placements 2,640  
46,138,123 Exercise of Options 2,069  

     -    Transfer from Option Reserve 378  
     -    Less: Cost of Issue (130)  

304,830,925 Closing Balance at 30 June 2011 18,306  
56,570,720 Placements 50,101  
47,457,107 Exercise of Options 3,244  

     -    Transfer from Option Reserve 249  
(6,500,000) Less: Treasury Shares (5,038)  

     -    Less: Cost of Issue (2,250)  
402,358,752 Closing Balance at 30 June 2012 64,613  

     

(c) Unlisted Options     

Northern Star had the following unlisted options on issue as at 30 June 2012: 

 Number 
Issue Price of 

Shares Expiry Date 

Unlisted Options  833,333 5 Expiring on 4 Sept 2012 

Unlisted Options  7,073,995 10 Expiring on 4 Sept 2012 

Unlisted Options  12,333,333 10 Expiring on 4 Sept 2013 

Employee Options  1,000,000 20 Expiring on 30 July 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 20 Expiring on 11 Oct 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 25 Expiring on 11 Oct 2014 

Employee Options  333,334 15 Expiring on 4 Nov 2012 

Employee Options  333,333 20 Expiring on 4 Nov 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 25 Expiring on 4 Nov 2014 

Employee Options  333,334 35 Expiring on 17 Oct 2012 

Employee Options  333,333 50 Expiring on 17 Oct 2013 

Employee Options  333,333 65 Expiring on 17 Oct 2014 

Employee Options  333,334 120 Expiring on 27 Feb 2014 

Employee Options  333,333 150 Expiring on 27 Feb 2015 

Employee Options  333,333 181 Expiring on 27 Feb 2016 

Employee Options  375,000 80 Expiring on 14 May 2013 

Employee Options  375,000 80 Expiring on 30 June 2013 

Unlisted Options  2,000,000 91 Expiring on 28 June 2014 

    

During the year, no unlisted options were forfeited, 735,426 unlisted options expired, no unlisted options were cancelled and 47,457,107 
options were exercised and 4,750,000 unlisted options were granted during the year. 
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(d) Terms and Conditions of Issued Capital 

Ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to participate in the proceeds 
from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on shares held. 

Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the Company 

    

(e) Capital Management 

When managing capital, management’s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a going concern as well as to maintain optimal 
returns to shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Management also aims to maintain a capital structure that ensures the lowest 
cost of capital Management may in the future adjust the capital structure to take advantage of favourable costs of capital and issue further 
shares in the market. Management has no current plans to adjust the capital structure. 

Total capital is equity as shown in the statement of financial position. 

The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

    

    

19. SHARE-BASED OPTION RESERVE  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

    

Balance at the beginning of the year  392 591 

Option exercised  (238) (224) 

Option forfeited  (11) (154) 

Option expense  360 179 

Balance at the end of the year  503 392 

    

Nature and purpose of the reserve:    

The Share-based option reserve is used to recognize the fair value of options issued but not exercised. 

    

 

20. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARY COUNTRY OF
INCORPORATION   

The Group consist of the Company and its wholly-owned controlled entity as
follows: 

  

Northern Star Mining Services Pty Ltd  

Related party transactions 

Australia   

Loan to subsidiary 6,000 6,000

Northern Star Mining Services Pty Ltd       -

Movement in loans to subsidiary 6,000      -

Opening balance      - 6,000

Loans advanced 6,000 6,000

Closing balance 6,000 6,000

The Parent company guarantees all commitments and financial obligations of its subsidiary. 
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21. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 
  $'000 $'000 
(a) Operating Commitments:    
Commitments in relation to hire purchase arrangements under a master agreement with various banks
and lending institutions contracted for at the reporting date.   

Within one year  4,680 1,359
Later than one year but not more than five years  5,032 2,491
  9,712 3,850

Future Finance Charges  (709) (381)
  9,003 3,469

    
Commitments in relation to term purchase arrangements under a master agreement with Toyota 
Financial Services contracted for at the reporting date.   
Within one year  242 242
Later than one year but not more than five years  214 454
  456 696

Future Finance Charges  (33) (76)
  423 620

    
(b) Capital Commitments:    
Commitments in relation to purchase of Property Plant and Equipment contracted for at the reporting
date, but not recognised as liabilities. 
Within one year  4,680 1,359
Later than one year but not more than five years  5,032 2,491
  9,712 3,850

. 
(c) Tenement Expenditure Commitments:    
The Company and the Group are required to maintain current rights of tenure to tenements, which
require outlays of expenditure in 2012/2013. Under certain circumstances these commitments are
subject to the possibility of adjustment to the amount and/or timing of such obligations, however, they
are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations. Estimated minimum required expenditure
on mining, exploration and prospecting leases for 2012/2013. 
Within one year  1,517 1,486
Later than one year but not more than five years  2,597 2,634
Later than five years  1,866 2,348
  5,980 6,468

    
(d) Contingencies:    
It is possible that native title, as defined in the Native Title Act 1993, might exist over land in which the Company has an interest.  It is 
impossible at this stage to quantify the impact (if any) that the existence of native title may have on the operations of the Company.  However, 
at the date of these accounts, the Directors are aware that applications for native title claims have been accepted by the Native Title Tribunal 
over tenements held by the Company. 
    

22. EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME AND OTHER SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS   

An employee incentive scheme has been established by Northern Star Resources Ltd to provide eligible employees with a potential 
ownership interest in the Company for the purpose of: 
 providing them with an opportunity to share in the growth in value of the Company, 
 encouraging them to improve the longer-term performance of the Company and its returns to shareholders, and 
 assisting in the recruitment, reward and retention of employees of the Company and its subsidiary. 
These options/shares are granted at the discretion of the Board, who may take into account skills, experience, length of service with the 
Company, remuneration level and such other criteria as considered appropriate. Options issued pursuant to the Scheme are issued free of 
charge. The exercise price and expiry date, and the date(s) on which the rights may be exercised, is determined by the Board. The options 
are not quoted on the ASX and transfers are restricted.  
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22. EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME AND OTHER SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 
(a) Set out below are the summaries of employee shares granted as share based payments.   

Grant Date 
Balance at start of the 

year Granted during the year 
Forfeited or Cancelled 

during the year 
Balance at the end of the 

year 
18/01/2012 - 70,720 - 70,720 
   
(b) Set out below are the summaries of options granted as share based payments.   

Grant Date 
Expiry 
Date 

Exercise 
Price 

Balance at 
start of the 

year 

Granted 
during the 

year 

Exercised 
during the 

year 

Forfeited, 
Expired or 
Cancelled 
during the 

year 

Balance at 
the end of 
the year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

at the end  
of the year 

2012        
29/06/2012 28/06/2014 0.91 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 
15/05/2012 14/05/2013 0.80 - 375,000 - - 375,000 375,000 
15/05/2012 14/05/2014 0.80 - 375,000 - - 375,000 - 
2/03/2012 27/02/2014 1.20 - 333,334 - - 333,334 - 
2/03/2012 27/02/2015 1.50 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 
2/03/2012 27/02/2016 1.81 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 
25/08/2011 17/10/2012 0.35 - 333,334 - - 333,334 333,334 
25/08/2011 17/10/2013 0.50 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 
25/08/2011 17/10/2014 0.65 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 
28/10/2010 11/10/2012 0.15 333,334 - (333,334) - - - 
28/10/2010 11/10/2013 0.20 333,333 - - - 333,333 - 
28/10/2010 11/10/2014 0.25 333,333 - - - 333,333 - 
18/11/2010 4/11/2012 0.15 333,334 - - - 333,334 333,334 
18/11/2010 4/11/2013 0.20 333,333 - - - 333,333 - 
18/11/2010 4/11/2014 0.25 333,333 - - - 333,333 - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 250,000 - - - 250,000 - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 250,000 - - - 250,000 - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 250,000 - - - 250,000 - 
30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 250,000 - - - 250,000 - 
18/06/2007 18/06/2012 0.20 100,000 - (100,000) - - - 
2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.20 400,000 - (200,000) (200,000) - - 
2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.20 150,000 - (75,000) (75,000) - - 
2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.25 150,000 - (75,000) (75,000) - - 
2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.20 150,000 - (75,000) (75,000) - - 
2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.30 150,000 - (75,000) (75,000) - - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2011 0.03 1,210,000 - (1,210,000) - - - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2011 0.03 333,334 - (333,334) - - - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 
11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 6,500,000 - (6,500,000) - - - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 333,333 - - - 333,333 333,333 
11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 500,000 - - - 500,000 - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 6,500,000 - - - 6,500,000 - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 - 
11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 333,333 - - - 333,333 - 
20/10/2009 20/10/2011 0.06 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
20/10/2009 20/10/2012 0.06 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
20/10/2009 20/10/2013 0.06 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
8/12/2009 8/12/2013 0.06 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 
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22. EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEME AND OTHER SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

Grant Date 

Expiry 

Date 

Exercise 

Price 

Balance at 

start of the 
year 

Granted 

during the 

year 

Exercised 
during 

the year 

Forfeited, 
Expired or 
Cancelled 
during the 

year 

Balance at 

the end of 

the year 

Vested and 
exercisable 

at the end  

of the year 

2011        

28/10/2010 11/10/2012 0.15 - 333,334 - - 333,334 - 

28/10/2010 11/10/2013 0.20 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 

28/10/2010 11/10/2014 0.25 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 

18/11/2010 4/11/2012 0.15 - 333,334 - - 333,334 - 

18/11/2010 4/11/2013 0.20 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 

18/11/2010 4/11/2014 0.25 - 333,333 - - 333,333 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2012 0.10 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

30/07/2010 30/07/2013 0.20 - 250,000 - - 250,000 - 

18/06/2007 18/06/2012 0.20 100,000 - - - 100,000 100,000 

2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.20 400,000 - - - 400,000 400,000 

2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.20 150,000 - - - 150,000 150,000 

2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.25 150,000 - - - 150,000 150,000 

2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.20 150,000 - - - 150,000 150,000 

2/09/2008 2/09/2011 0.30 150,000 - - - 150,000 150,000 

1/07/2009 10/10/2010 0.20 1,500,000 - (1,200,000) (300,000) - - 

11/09/2009 4/09/2011 0.03 500,000 - (500,000) - - - 

11/09/2009 4/09/2011 0.03 4,880,000 - (3,670,000) - 1,210,000 1,210,000 

11/09/2009 4/09/2011 0.03 5,000,000 - (5,000,000) - - - 

11/09/2009 4/09/2011 0.03 333,334 - - - 333,334 333,334 

11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000 

11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 6,500,000 - - - 6,500,000 6,500,000 

11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 5,000,000 

11/09/2009 4/09/2012 0.05 333,334 - - - 333,334 333,334 

11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 500,000 - - - 500,000 - 

11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 6,500,000 - - - 6,500,000 - 

11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000 - 

11/09/2009 4/09/2013 0.10 333,334 - - - 333,334 - 

20/10/2009 20/10/2011 0.06 250,000 - - - 250,000 250,000 

20/10/2009 20/10/2012 0.06 250,000 - - - 250,000 250,000 

20/10/2009 20/10/2013 0.06 250,000 - - - 250,000 - 

8/12/2009 8/12/2011 0.06 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 

8/12/2009 8/12/2012 0.06 250,000 - (250,000) - - - 

8/12/2009 8/12/2013 0.06 250,000 - - - 250,000 - 
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23. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES    

(a) Key management personnel compensation  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

Short-term employee benefits - cash fees and bonus  1,161 601

Post-employment benefits - superannuation  54 13

Equity based payments  52 86

    

(b) Equity Instruments Disclosures Relating to Key Management Personnel    

(i) Share Holdings    

The number of ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Northern Star Resources Ltd and any other 
key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are as follows 

    

2012 

Name 

Balance at 
beginning of the 

year 

Net change 

during the year 

Balance at

end of the year

Directors    

Christopher Rowe 6,445,833 (1,035,653) 5,410,180

Bill Beament 9,500,000 5,170,000 14,670,000

Peter Farris  1,049,998 (50,000) 999,998

Michael Fotios 67,771,054 (18,231,680) 49,539,374

Peter O’Connor 100,000 - 100,000

    

Key Management Personnel    

Ray Parry 45,000 333,334 378,334

Karen Brown 1,191,666 - 1,191,666

    

2011 

Name 

Balance at 
beginning of the 

year 

Net change 

during the year 

Balance at

end of the year

Directors    

Christopher Rowe 4,581,152 1,864,681 6,445,833

Bill Beament 4,130,000 5,370,000 9,500,000

Peter Farris  1,863,332 (813,334) 1,049,998

Michael Fotios 48,976,394 18,794,660 67,771,054

    

Key Management Personnel    

Karen Brown 721,000 470,666 1,191,666
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23. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES    

(ii) Option Holdings    

The number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each Director of Northern Star Resources Ltd 
and any other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are as follows: 

    

2012 

Name 

Balance at 

start of 

the year 
Granted during 

the year 

Exercised 
during 

the year 

Forfeited, 
Expired or 
Cancelled 
during the 

year 
Balance at the 
end of the year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Directors       

Christopher Rowe 2,729,362 - (864,681) - 1,864,681 1,864,681

Bill Beament 15,370,000 2,000,000 (8,870,000) - 8,500,000 8,500,000

Peter Farris  250,000 - (250,000) - -      -

Michael Fotios 31,869,320 - (26,869,320) - 5,000,000 5,000,000

Peter O’Connor - - - - -      -

       

Key Management Personnel       

Ray Parry 1,000,000 - (333,334) - 666,666      -

Karen Brown 735,332 - - - 735,332 735,332

       

2011 

Name 

Balance at 

start of 

the year 
Granted during 

the year 

Exercised 
during 

the year 

Forfeited, 
Expired or 
Cancelled 
during the 

year 
Balance at the 
end of the year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year

Directors       

Christopher Rowe 4,094,043 - (1,364,681) - 2,729,362 2,229,362

Bill Beament 21,040,000 - (3,670,000) (2,000,000) 15,370,000 8,870,000

Peter Farris  836,666 - (586,666) - 250,000      -

Michael Fotios 47,803,980 - (15,934,660) - 31,869,320 26,869,320

       

Key Management Personnel       

Karen Brown 735,332 - - - 735,332 401,999

       

 

(c) Other Related Party Transactions with Key Management Personnel 

Michael Fotios, a related party, is a shareholder and director of Delta Resources Management Pty Ltd. During the year an amount of 
$233,307 was paid to Delta Resources for professional services at normal commercial rates. Michael Fotios is also a shareholder and director 
of Investmet Limited. During the year and amount of $66,000 was paid to this business for corporate advice at normal commercial rates. 

    

24. AUDITOR'S REMUNERATION    

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent 
entity, its related practices and non-related audit firms: 

  

  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

Rothsay Chartered Accountants - Auditors for the Group  61 63
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25. SEGMENT INFORMATION    

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the board of directors that are used to make strategic 
decisions. The group does not have any operating segments with discrete financial information. All the group’s assets and liabilities are 
located within Australia. The Board of Directors review internal management reports on a monthly basis that is consistent with the information 
provided in the statement of comprehensive income, statement of financial position and statement of cash flows. As a result no reconciliation 
is required because the information as presented is what is used by the Board to make strategic decisions. 

  

26. JOINT VENTURES    

    

The Group has the following interest in unincorporated joint ventures:    

 PRINCIPAL GROUP 

JOINT VENTURE ACTIVITIES 30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

Cullen Exploration Pty Ltd - Hardey Junction Joint Venture Exploration 80% 80%

Artemis Resources Ltd - Mt Clement Joint Venture Exploration 20% 20%

U3O8 Ltd - Tunganary Joint Venture Exploration 10% 10%

    

The joint ventures are not separate legal entities. They are contractual arrangements between participants for the sharing of costs and 
outputs and do not in themselves generate revenue and profit. The joint ventures are of the type where initially one party contributes 
tenements with the other party earning a specified percentage by funding exploration activities; thereafter the parties often share exploration 
and development costs and output in proportion to their ownership of joint venture assets. The joint ventures do not hold any assets and 
accordingly the Company’s share of exploration evaluation and development expenditure is accounted for in accordance with the policy set 
out in note 1.  

    

    

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT    

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash, short-term deposits and borrowings. The main purpose of these financial 
instruments is to provide working capital for the Group’s operations and mine development. The Group has various other financial instruments 
such as listed investments, trade debtors and trade creditors, which arise directly from its operations. It is, and has been throughout the 
period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity risk, foreign currency risk, commodity price risk 
and credit risk. The Board reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these risks. 

    

The Group holds the following financial instruments:  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  64,962 16,574

Trade and other receivables  1,817 4,940

Other financial assets – investments  6,653      -

   

Financial liabilities   

Trade payables  14,967 10,599

Financial Liabilities  9,426 4,090
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont.) 
(a) Interest rate risk  

At balance date the Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s short-term cash deposits 
and borrowings. The Group constantly analyses its exposure to interest rates, with consideration given to potential renewal of existing 
positions, the mix of fixed and variable interest rates and the period to which deposits may be fixed. 

   

The Group had the following financial instruments exposed to interest rates:  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

Financial assets    

Cash and cash equivalents  64,962 16,574

    

Financial liabilities    

Finance Leases  (9,426) (4,090)

Net exposure  55,536 12,484

 

Sensitivity 

At 30 June 2012, if interest rates had increased/decreased by 1.25% from the year end variable rates with all other variables held constant, 
post tax profit and equity for the Group and Parent would have been $694,000 higher/lower (2011: $125,000 higher/$125,000 lower). 

The 1.25% sensitivity is based on reasonably possible changes, over a financial year, using an observed range of historical RBA movements 
over the last year.  

 

(b) Liquidity risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by monitoring immediate and forecast cash requirements and ensuring adequate cash reserves are 
maintained. A maturity analysis of financial liabilities is disclosed in the table below.  

  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities:    

Non-Interest Bearing    

Trade payables  14,967 10,599

  14,967 10,599

Floating Rate    

Financial Liabilities  9,426 4,090

    

(c) Foreign Currency Risk  

As a result of exposure to the gold commodity market, the Company has exposure to the USD. The Company manages this exposure by 
selling gold in AUD.  

    

(d) Commodity Price Risk    

The Group does not hold financial instruments which are exposed to commodity price risk (2011: Nil) 

    

(e) Credit risk  

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group has 
adopted the policy of dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security where appropriate, as a 
means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Cash is deposited only with institutions with a minimum credit rating of AA (or 
equivalent) as determined by a reputable credit rating agency e.g. Standard & Poor. The Group does not have any other significant credit risk 
exposure to a single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar characteristics. 
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont.) 
The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit ratings (if 
available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates: 

  GROUP 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

Cash and cash equivalents    

AA  64,962 16,574
 

The Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis.  The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any 
provision for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. All receivables noted above are due within 30 days. None of 
the above receivables are past due.  
    

28. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION    

(a) Information relating to Northern Star Resources Ltd:  COMPANY 

  30 JUNE 2012 30 JUNE 2011 

  $'000 $'000 

Results of the parent entity    

Profit/(Loss) for the period  22,773 21,348

Other comprehensive income for the year       -      -

Total comprehensive income for the year  22,773 21,348
   

Financial position of the parent entity at year end   

Current assets  75,812 24,742

Non-current assets  54,076 20,472

Total assets  129,888 45,213
   

Current liabilities  21,883 12,564

Noncurrent liabilities  10,495 4,330

Total liabilities  32,378 16,894

Net assets  97,510 28,319
   

Contributed equity  69,650 18,306

Reserves  (4,535) 392

Retained earnings  32,395 9,622

Total equity  97,510 28,319
 

(b) Details of any guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiary 

Refer to Note 21 

(c) Details of any contingent liabilities of the parent entity 

Refer to Note 21 

(d) Details of any contractual commitments by the parent entity for the acquisition of plant, and equipment 

There are no contractual commitments by the parent entity for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment as at reporting date. 

(e) Tax Consolidation    

The Company and its 100% owned controlled entity have formed a tax consolidated group. Members of the group entered into a tax sharing 
arrangement in order to allocate income tax expense to the wholly owned controlled entities. The head entity of the consolidated group is 
Northern Star Resources Ltd.  
    

29. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO YEAR END    

There are no other matters or circumstances other than the future development of the production site that have arisen since 30 June 2012 
that have or may significantly affect the operations, results, or state of affairs of the Group in future financial years except for the following: 

1) Northern Star acquired a further 37 million shares in Venturex Resources Limited (ASX:VXR) at 3.6 cents. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors, I state that: 

 

In the opinion of the Directors: 

1. (a) the financial statements, notes and audited remuneration disclosures included in the directors’ report of the Company and the Group 
are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Company’s and Group’s financial position at 30 June 2012 and of their performance for the year 
ended on that date; and 

 

ii. complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 
and 

 

(c) the remuneration disclosures set out in the Directors’ Report (as part of the audited Remuneration Report) for the year ended 30 
June 2012 comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

2. The company has included in the notes to the financial statements an explicit and unreserved statement of compliance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 

3. This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ending 30 June 2012. 

 

On behalf of the Board 

  

 
 

Bill Beament 

Managing Director 

Perth, Western Australia 

31st July 2012 
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Approach to Corporate Governance 
Northern Star Resources Limited (Company) has adopted systems of control and accountability as the basis for the administration of 
corporate governance.  Some of these policies and procedures are summarised in this statement. Commensurate with the spirit of the ASX 
Corporate Governance Council's Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations 2nd edition (Principles & Recommendations), 
the Company has followed each recommendation where the Board has considered the recommendation to be an appropriate benchmark 
for its corporate governance practices.  Where the Company's corporate governance practices follow a recommendation, the Board has 
made appropriate statements reporting on the adoption of the recommendation.  In compliance with the "if not, why not" reporting regime, 
where, after due consideration, the Company's corporate governance practices depart from a recommendation, the Board has offered full 
disclosure and an explanation for the adoption of its own practice. 

The following governance-related documents can be found on the Company's website at www.nsrltd.com, under the section marked 
“Corporate”, "Corporate Governance": 

 

Charters 
 Board 
 Audit Committee 
 Nomination Committee 
 Remuneration Committee 

 

Policies and Procedures 
 Policy and Procedure for Selection and (Re)Appointment of Directors 
 Process for Performance Evaluations 
 Policy on Assessing the Independence of Directors 
 Diversity Policy (summary) 
 Code of Conduct (summary) 
 Policy on Continuous Disclosure (summary) 
 Compliance Procedures (summary) 
 Procedure for the Selection, Appointment and Rotation of External Auditor 
 Shareholder Communication Policy 
 Risk Management Policy (summary) 
 Policy for Trading in Company Securities 

The Company reports below on how it has followed (or otherwise departed from) each of the recommendations during the 2011/2012 
financial year (Reporting Period).  The information in this statement is current at 30 September 2012. 

 

 

Board 
Roles and responsibilities of the Board and Senior Executives 
(Recommendations: 1.1, 1.3) 

The Company has established the functions reserved to the Board, and those delegated to senior executives and has set out these 
functions in its Board Charter.  

The Board is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company through its key functions of overseeing the management of 
the Company, providing overall corporate governance of the Company, monitoring the financial performance of the Company, engaging 
appropriate management commensurate with the Company's structure and objectives, involvement in the development of corporate 
strategy and performance objectives, and reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of risk management and internal control, codes of 
conduct and legal compliance. 

Senior executives are responsible for supporting the Managing Director and assisting the Managing Director in implementing the running of 
the general operations and financial business of the Company in accordance with the delegated authority of the Board.  Senior executives 
are responsible for reporting all matters which fall within the Company's materiality thresholds at first instance to the Managing Director or, if 
the matter concerns the Managing Director, directly to the Chair or the lead independent director, as appropriate. 

The Company’s Board Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website.  
  



 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

  2012 ANNUAL REPORT / PAGE 50 
 

  

Skills, experience, expertise and period of office of each Director 
(Recommendation: 2.6) 

A profile of each Director setting out their skills, experience, expertise and period of office is set out in the Directors' Report.   

The Board considers that the mix of skills and diversity for which the Board is looking to achieve in membership of its Board is represented 
in its current composition.  The Board comprises directors with qualifications and skills in the following areas: geological; legal; listed 
resource company experience; engineering; global profile; funds management and business skills.   

 

Director independence 
(Recommendations: 2.1, 2.2, 2.3, 2.6) 

The Board does not have a majority of directors who are independent.  The Board considers that its current size and composition 
represents an appropriate mix of skills and expertise relevant to the Company’s business.  The Board is aware of the importance of 
independent judgment and considers independence when new appointments are made to the Board.  Mr O’Connor who was appointed to 
the Board during the Reporting Period is an independent director.  The Board will continue to evaluate its composition.   

The Board considers the independence of directors having regard to the relationships listed in Box 2.1 of the Principles & 
Recommendations and the Company's materiality thresholds.   

The Board has agreed on the following guidelines, as set out in the Company's Board Charter for assessing the materiality of matters: 

 Balance sheet items are material if they have a value of more than 10% of pro-forma net asset. 
 Profit and loss items are material if they will have an impact on the current year operating result of 10% or more. 
 Items are also material if they impact on the reputation of the Company, involve a breach of legislation, are outside the ordinary 

course of business, could affect the Company’s rights to its assets, if accumulated would trigger the quantitative tests, involve a 
contingent liability that would have a probable effect of 10% or more on balance sheet or profit and loss items, or will have an effect 
on operations which is likely to result in an increase or decrease in net income or dividend distribution of more than 10%. 

 Contracts will be considered material if they are outside the ordinary course of business, contain exceptionally onerous provisions 
in the opinion of the Board, impact on income or distribution in excess of the quantitative tests, there is a likelihood that either party 
will default, and the default may trigger any of the quantitative or qualitative tests, are essential to the activities of the Company and 
cannot be replaced, or cannot be replaced without an increase in cost which triggers any of the quantitative tests, contain or trigger 
change of control provisions, are between or for the benefit of related parties, or otherwise trigger the quantitative tests. 

The independent directors of the Company are Mr Christopher Rowe and Mr Peter O’Connor (appointed 21 May 2012).  

Mr Rowe and Mr O’Connor are independent as they are non-executive directors who are not members of management and who are free of 
any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to materially interfere with, the 
independent exercise of their judgment.    

The non-independent directors of the Company are Mr William Beament, the Company’s Managing Director, Mr Fotios, a director and 
significant shareholder of Investmet Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company and Mr Farris, also a director of Investmet Limited. 

The independent Chair of the Board is Mr Rowe, who is not also Managing Director.   

 

Independent professional advice 
(Recommendation: 2.6) 

To assist directors with independent judgement, it is the Board's policy that if a director considers it necessary to obtain independent 
professional advice to properly discharge the responsibility of their office as a director then, provided the director first obtains approval from 
the Chair for incurring such expense, the Company will pay the reasonable expenses associated with obtaining such advice. 

 

Selection and (Re)Appointment of Directors 
(Recommendation: 2.6) 

In determining candidates for the Board, the Nomination Committee (or equivalent) follows a prescribed process whereby it evaluates the 
mix of skills, experience and expertise of the existing Board.  In particular, the Nomination Committee (or equivalent) is to identify the 
particular skills that will best increase the Board's effectiveness.  Consideration is also given to the balance of independent directors.  
Potential candidates are identified and, if relevant, the Nomination Committee (or equivalent) recommends an appropriate candidate for 
appointment to the Board.  Any appointment made by the Board is subject to ratification by shareholders at the next general meeting. 

The Board recognises that Board renewal is critical to performance and the impact of Board tenure on succession planning.  Each director 
other than the Managing Director, must not hold office (without re-election) past the third annual general meeting of the Company following 
the director's appointment or three years following that director's last election or appointment (whichever is the longer).  However, a director 
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board must not hold office (without re-election) past the next annual general 
meeting of the Company.  At each annual general meeting a minimum of one director or one third of the total number of directors must 
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resign.  A director who retires at an annual general meeting is eligible for re-election at that meeting.  Re-appointment of directors is not 
automatic. 

The Company’s Policy and Procedure for the Selection and (Re) Appointment of Directors is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

 

 

Board committees 
Nomination Committee 
(Recommendations: 2.4, 2.6) 

The Board has not established a separate Nomination Committee.  Given the current size and composition of the Board, the Board believes 
that there would be no efficiencies gained by establishing a separate Nomination Committee.  Accordingly, the Board performs the role of 
the Nomination Committee.  Items that are usually required to be discussed by a Nomination Committee are marked as separate agenda 
items at Board meetings when required.  When the Board convenes as the Nomination Committee it carries out those functions which are 
delegated to it in the Company’s Nomination Committee Charter.  The Board deals with any conflicts of interest that may occur when 
convening in the capacity of the Nomination Committee by ensuring that the director with conflicting interests is not party to the relevant 
discussions. 

The full Board, in its capacity as the Nomination Committee, held three meetings during the Reporting Period.  All members of the Board 
attended each meeting.   

The Board has adopted a Nomination Committee Charter which describes the role, composition, functions and responsibilities of the 
Nomination Committee.   

The Company’s Nomination Committee Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

 

Audit Committee 
(Recommendations: 4.1, 4.2, 4.3, 4.4) 

The Board has established an Audit Committee.  However, the Audit Committee is not structured in compliance with Recommendation 4.2.  
The Audit Committee comprised the Board’s sole independent director, Mr Rowe, as Chair, Mr Fotios and Mr Farris.  This structure was 
considered appropriate, and Mr Rowe was considered the most appropriate person to chair the Audit Committee given his extensive 
experience.  However on 18 June 2012, Mr Fotios resigned from the Audit Committee and was replaced with Mr O’Connor.  Accordingly, 
the Audit Committee now meets the structural requirements of Recommendation 4.2 except that Mr Rowe is also Chair of the Board.  It was 
intended that Mr O’Connor would ultimately take on the position of Chair of the Audit Committee and, subsequent to the Reporting Period, 
Mr O’Connor has taken that position.  The Audit Committee is now structured in accordance with Recommendation 4.2.   

The Board has adopted an Audit Committee Charter which describes the role, composition, functions and responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee.  

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the Reporting Period.  Details of the directors who are members of the Audit Committee, 
and their attendance at Audit Committee meetings are set out in the following table: 

 

NAME NO. OF MEETINGS ATTENDED 

Mr Rowe (Chair) (independent non-executive) 2 

Mr Fotios (non-independent non-executive)* (resigned 18/06/12) 1 

Mr Farris (non-independent non-executive)  2 

Mr O’Connor (independent non-executive)* (appointed 18/06/12) 1 

* Mr Fotios had resigned from the committee before the second meeting was held; Mr O’Connor was appointed to the committee after the first meeting was held. 

 

Details of each of the director's qualifications are set out in the Directors' Report.  Whilst none of the members of the Audit Committee have 
specific financial qualifications, all members are financially literate and have an understanding of the industry in which the Company 
operates.   

The Company has established procedures for the selection, appointment and rotation of its external auditor. The Board is responsible for 
the initial appointment of the external auditor and the appointment of a new external auditor when any vacancy arises, as recommended by 
the Audit Committee (or its equivalent). Candidates for the position of external auditor must demonstrate complete independence from the 
Company through the engagement period. The Board may otherwise select an external auditor based on criteria relevant to the Company's 
business and circumstances. The performance of the external auditor is reviewed on an annual basis by the Audit Committee (or its 
equivalent) and any recommendations are made to the Board.  
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The Company’s Audit Committee Charter and Procedure for the Selection, Appointment and Rotation of External Auditor are disclosed on 
the Company’s website.   

 

Remuneration Committee 
(Recommendations: 8.1, 8.2, 8.3, 8.4) 

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee.  During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee was not structured in 
accordance with Recommendation 8.2.  The members of the Remuneration Committee were Mr Rowe (Chair), Mr Fotios and Mr Farris.  
This structure was considered appropriate, as the Remuneration Committee comprised the Board’s three non-executive directors in 
compliance with Listing Rule 12.8.  On 18 June 2012, Mr O’Connor joined the Remuneration Committee which is now comprised of four 
members who are all non-executive.  Two members are independent including the Chair.  The Board is of the opinion that the widest 
representation of the full Board is advantageous to the operation of this committee regardless of the independence of the committee 
members  

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the Reporting Period. Details of the directors who are members of the 
Remuneration Committee, and their attendance at Remuneration Committee meetings are set out in the following table: 

 

NAME NO. OF MEETINGS ATTENDED 

Mr Rowe (Chair) (independent non-executive) 2 

Mr Fotios (non-independent non-executive) 2 

Mr Farris (non-independent non-executive) 2 

Mr O’Connor (independent non-executive)* (appointed 18/06/12) 1 
* Mr O’Connor was appointed to the committee after the second meeting was held. 

 

The Board has adopted a Remuneration Committee Charter which describes the role, composition, functions and responsibilities of the 
Remuneration Committee. 

Details of remuneration, including the Company’s policy on remuneration, are contained in the “Remuneration Report” which forms of part 
of the Directors’ Report.  Non-executive directors are remunerated at a fixed fee for time, commitment and responsibilities. Remuneration 
for non-executive directors is not linked to individual performance. From time to time the Company may grant options to non-executive 
directors.  The grant of options is designed to recognise and reward efforts as well as to provide non-executive directors with additional 
incentive to continue those efforts from the benefit of the Company.  Pay and rewards for executive directors and senior executives consists 
of a base salary and performance incentives. Short term performance incentives may include cash bonuses, which is designed to 
encourage and reward superior performance.  Long term performance incentives may include options granted at the discretion of the Board 
and subject to obtaining the relevant approvals.  The grant of options is designed to recognise and reward efforts as well as to provide 
additional incentive and may be subject to the successful completion of performance hurdles.  Executives are offered a competitive level of 
base pay at market rates and are reviewed annually to ensure market competitiveness. 

There are no termination or retirement benefits for non-executive directors (other than for superannuation). 

The Company's Remuneration Committee Charter includes a statement of the Company's policy on prohibiting transactions in associated 
products which limit the risk of participating in unvested entitlements under any equity based remuneration schemes.  

The Company’s Remuneration Committee Charter is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

 

Performance evaluation 
Senior executives 
(Recommendations: 1.2, 1.3) 

It is the responsibility of the Managing Director to manage and implement performance evaluation of other senior executives and 
management, reporting to the Board (as the Nomination Committee) and the Remuneration Committee at least annually.   

The current size and structure of the Company allows the Managing Director to conduct informal evaluation of other senior executives and 
management personnel on a regular basis, conducting a formal evaluation annually in conjunction with a remuneration review.  This formal 
evaluation follows a structured format including interviews, self-assessment and measurement of performance of the individual and the 
Company against a set of parameters and benchmarks.  Open and regular communication with senior staff and consulting personnel allows 
the Managing Director to ensure that key performance indicators are identified and met, and to provide feedback and guidance, particularly 
where performance or mismanagement issues are evident. 

A performance evaluation of senior executives took place during the Reporting Period in accordance with the process disclosed.   
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Board, its committees and individual directors 
(Recommendations: 2.5, 2.6) 

Evaluation of the Board and its members is carried out by way of an ongoing review by the Chair (please refer to the Company’s Process 
for Performance Evaluation on its website for details of the means by which the review is conducted), discussing issues as they arise, and 
periodically conducting interviews with each director.  This ongoing process has remained in-house and informal throughout the year, 
relying on discussion and consultation summarised with an annual report from the Chair in preference to more formal means of evaluation.  
The full Board (acting as the Nomination Committee) reviews the performance of the Managing Director on an ongoing basis. 

During the Reporting Period, evaluation of the Board and its members continued according to the ongoing process however formalisation of 
findings and conclusions into an annual report was deferred given the appointment of Mr O’Connor in May 2012.  The Board expects that a 
formal review of it and its members will be completed in the second quarter of the 2012/2013 financial year.   

The Company’s Process for Performance Evaluation is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

 

Ethical and responsible decision making 
Code of Conduct 
(Recommendations: 3.1, 3.5) 

The Company has established a Code of Conduct as to the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company's integrity, the 
practices necessary to take into account its legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of its stakeholders and the responsibility and 
accountability of individuals for reporting and investigating reports of unethical practices.  

A summary of the Company’s Code of Conduct is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

 

Diversity 
(Recommendations: 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5) 

The Company did not establish a Diversity Policy during the Reporting Period, or establish measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity because the Board was considering its approach to diversity, and monitoring the Company’s employment during the year.  In June 
2012, the Board agreed in principle to adopt a Diversity Policy and establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity.  On 26 
September 2012, the Board formally adopted a Diversity Policy, which includes requirements for the Board to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the Board to assess annually both the objectives and progress towards achieving them.  
The Company will report in its 2012/2013 Annual Report the measurable objectives it establishes, and its progress towards achieving them.   

The proportion of women employees in the whole organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the Board are set out in 
the following table: 

 

 PROPORTION OF WOMEN 

Whole organisation* 14 out of 92 (15%) 

Senior executive positions* 0 out of 4 (0%) 

Board 0 out of 5 (0%) 

* Excludes the Managing Director.   

 

In addition, the Company Secretary (a consultant) is female.   

A summary of the Company’s Diversity Policy is disclosed on the Company’s website. 

 

Continuous Disclosure 
(Recommendations: 5.1, 5.2) 

The Company has established written policies and procedures designed to ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure 
requirements and accountability at a senior executive level for that compliance.  

A summary of the Company’s Policy on Continuous Disclosure and Compliance Procedures are disclosed on the Company’s website.   
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Shareholder Communication 
(Recommendations: 6.1, 6.2) 

The Company has designed a communications policy for promoting effective communication with shareholders and encouraging 
shareholder participation at general meetings. 

The Company’s Shareholder Communication Policy is disclosed on the Company’s website.   

 

Risk Management 
Recommendations: 7.1, 7.2, 7.3, 7.4) 

The Board has adopted a Risk Management Policy, which sets out the Company's risk profile. Under the policy, the Board is responsible for 
approving the Company's policies on risk oversight and management and satisfying itself that management has developed and 
implemented a sound system of risk management and internal control. 

Under the policy, the Board delegates day-to-day management of risk to the Managing Director, who is responsible for identifying, 
assessing, monitoring and managing risks. The Managing Director is also responsible for updating the Company's material business risks to 
reflect any material changes, with the approval of the Board.  The Managing Director reports to the Board on risk at each Board meeting.   

In fulfilling the duties of risk management, the Managing Director may have unrestricted access to Company employees, contractors and 
records and may obtain independent expert advice on any matter they believe appropriate, with the prior approval of the Board. 

The Board has established a separate Audit Committee to monitor and review the integrity of financial reporting and the Company's internal 
financial control systems and risk management systems.   

In addition, the following risk management measures have been adopted by the Board to manage the Company's material business risks: 

 the Board has established authority limits for management, which, if proposed to be exceeded, requires prior Board approval;  
 the Board has adopted a compliance procedure for the purpose of ensuring compliance with the Company's continuous disclosure 

obligations; and 
 the Board has adopted a corporate governance manual which contains other policies to assist the Company to establish and 

maintain its governance practices. 

As previously reported, since the acquisition of the Paulsens Gold Mine, the Company’s risk profile changed significantly, and a 
comprehensive review of the Company’s risk management policy and systems took place.  Whilst the Company had implemented strict 
operational and site risk management systems, it was developing its corporate risk management systems.  During the Reporting Period, the 
Company engaged a specialist risk consultant to assist with the development of a corporate risk register to identify the Company's material 
business risks and risk management strategies for these risks.  In addition, the process of management of material business risks has been 
allocated to members of senior management.  The risk register is reviewed quarterly and updated, as required.   

The categories of risk reported on as part of the Company’s risk management system are: operational risks; exploration, evaluation and 
environmental risks; general economic and share market risks; commodity price risks; native title and tenure risks; risks relating to joint 
venture parties, agents and contractors; risks associated with future capital requirements and with potential acquisitions; risk relating to 
resource and mineralisation estimations; and risk associated with reliance on key personnel.   

The Board has required management to design, implement and maintain risk management and internal control systems to manage the 
Company's material business risks.  The Board also requires management to report to it confirming that those risks are being managed 
effectively. The Board has received a report from management as to the effectiveness of the Company's management of its material 
business risks for the Reporting Period.   

The Managing Director and the Chief Financial Officer have provided a declaration to the Board in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act and have assured the Board that such declaration is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal control 
and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in relation to financial reporting risks. 

A summary of the Company’s Risk Management Policy is disclosed on the Company’s website.   
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Additional information required by the Australian Securities Exchange and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows. The information 
is current as at 28 September 2012. 

 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS 
 NAME NUMBER OF 

ORDINARY SHARES 
PERCENTAGE OF 

ISSUE CAPITAL 

1 National Nominees Limited 63,735,093 15.03% 

2 Investmet Limited 40,035,900 9.44% 

3 J P Morgan Nominees Australia 37,925,102 8.95% 

4 HSBC Custody Nominees 32,291,482 7.62% 

5 Mr William James Beament <The Beament Family A/C> 20,281,735 4.78% 

6 Delta Resource Management Pty Ltd 11,130,000 2.63% 

7 Wyllie Group Pty Ltd 9,170,360 2.16% 

8 Little Breton Nominees Pty Ltd <The Little Breton S/F A/C> 7,355,193 1.74% 

9 UBS Wealth Management 5,811,224 1.37% 

10 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited  3,511,847 0.83% 

11 Mr Michael George Fotios <Michael Fotios Family A/C> 3,173,474 0.75% 

12 Kyim Pty Ltd <The Ransted Family Fund A/C> 3,048,000 0.72% 

13 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited <NT-Comnwlth Super Corp A/C> 2,742,164 0.65% 

14 Navigator Australia Ltd <Mlc Investment Sett A/C> 2,587,146 0.61% 

15 Leefab Pty Ltd 2,499,998 0.59% 

16 Multi Metal Consultants Pty Ltd <The Mmc S/F A/C> 2,455,125 0.58% 

17 TC Capital Ltd 2,180,000 0.51% 

18 Mrs Catherine Anne Wilkinson 2,165,000 0.51% 

19 Perth Select Seafoods Pty Ltd 2,066,666 0.49% 

20 Franway Pty Ltd <Kennedy Family S/Fund A/C> 2,000,000 0.47% 

Total  256,165,509 17.94% 

 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
The substantial shareholders as disclosed in the substantial shareholding notices received by the Company are: 

 

NAME NUMBER OF ORDINARY 
SHARES 

Investmet Limited  40,035,900 

Van Eck Associates Corporation 22,724,726 

Paradise Investment Management Pty Ltd 21,787,583 

 

DISTRIBUTION OF HOLDERS  
SPREAD OF HOLDINGS FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES OPTIONS 

1 - 1,000 578 - 

1,001 - 5,000 1,765 - 

5,001 - 10,000 1,100 - 

10,001 - 100,000 1,803 - 

100,000+ 287 4 

Total Holders 5,533 4 

Number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel 170 - 
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VOTING RIGHTS 
Voting rights are set out in clause 7.8 of the Company’s Constitution.  In summary, on a show of hands every member present in person or 
by proxy, attorney or representative shall have one vote and in the event of a poll every such member shall be entitled to on vote for each 
ordinary fully paid share held. 

 

RESTRICTED SECURITIES 
Currently there are no securities subject to either ASX imposed or voluntary restrictions. 

 

ON-MARKET BUY-BACK 
Currently there is no on-market buy-back of the Company’s securities. 

 

UNLISTED OPTIONS 
NUMBER EXERCISE PRICE (cents) EXPIRY DATE 

250,000 20 Expiring on 30 July 2013 

333,334 120 Expiring on 27 Feb 2014 

333,333 150 Expiring on 27 Feb 2015 

333,333 181 Expiring on 27 Feb 2016 

125,000 80 Expiring on 14 May 2013 

125,000 80 Expiring on 30 June 2013 

2,000,000 91 Expiring on 28 June 2014 
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TENEMENT NUMBER INTEREST PROJECT NAME AND LOCATION 
E08/1744 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E08/1745 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E47/1134 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

E47/1553 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

E08/1187 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E08/1649 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

E08/1845 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E(A)08/2251 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

E(A)08/2252 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

M08/196 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

M08/99 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

M08/222 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P08/516 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/543 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P08/544 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P08/565 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

P(A)08/625 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P(A)08/626 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P47/1264 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

P47/1265 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

P47/1313 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

P47/1637 100% Paulsens, West Pilbara WA 

L08/12-15 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA 

E08/1166 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1189 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1763 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1842 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1843 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1844 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

P08/546 80% Hardey Junction JV, Ashburton WA 

E08/1606 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

M08/191 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

M08/192 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

M08/193 20% free carried Mt Clement JV, Ashburton WA 

E(A)08/2232 100% Ashburton, Ashburton WA  

E(A)08/2240 100% Ashburton, Ashburton WA  

E08/1650 100% Ashburton, Ashburton WA  

P(A)08/646 100% Ashburton, Ashburton WA  

E52/1941 100% Ashburton, Peak Hill WA  

E(A)08/2310 100% Ashburton, Peak Hill WA  

M52/639 100% Ashburton, Peak Hill WA  

M52/640 100% Ashburton, Peak Hill WA  

M52/734 100% Ashburton, Peak Hill WA  
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M52/735 100% Ashburton, Peak Hill WA  

P(A)52/1420 100% Ashburton, Peak Hill WA  

E51/1391 100% Cheroona, Murchison WA  

E52/2509 100% Beatty Park, Peak Hill WA 

E80/2612  100% Emull (Red Billabong), Kimberley WA 

E80/3550 10% free carried Tunganary JV, Kimberley WA 

E80/3640 10% free carried Tunganary JV, Kimberley WA 

E80/4001 100% Range (Wilson River), Kimberley WA 

E08/2393 100% Ashburton, Ashburton WA  

E08/2395 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

L08/80 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

L08/81 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

L08/86 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

L08/87 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

L08/88 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

L08/89 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/650 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/651 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/652 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/653 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/654 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/655 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  

P08/656 100% Paulsens, Ashburton WA  
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